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GENERAL INFORMATION
Directors
The Directors who served throughout the year were as follows:

Joseph Sammut
Joaquim Francisco Da Silva Pinto
Nuno Pedro Martins
Luis Avides Moreira
Artur Fernandes
Carlos David Duarte de Almeida
Edward Cachia Caruana
Kenneth Mizzi
Mark Portelli
Maurice Mizzi
Simon Tortell

(Chairman)
(Chief Executive Officer)
(Executive Board Member)
(Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)
(Non-Executive Board Member)

There were no changes during the year.

Company secretary
Simon Tortell

Registered office
Level 2, 203
Rue D’Argens
Gzira GZR 1368
MALTA

Auditors
Ernst & Young Malta Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Fourth Floor
Regional Business Centre
Achille Ferris Street
Msida MSD 1751
MALTA
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Bank for the year
ended 31 December 2011.
The Board of Directors who served during the year are as listed under the General Information section.

Principal activities
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (the “Bank”) was incorporated on the 27 March 2007. The Bank was set up as a fullyowned subsidiary of Banif SGPS SA with an authorised and issued share capital of EUR50 million and EUR15
million respectively.
The Bank was also granted a licence to operate as a credit institution on the 27 March 2007 in terms of the
Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta. The Bank provides a full range of commercial banking services to
both residents and non-residents through a network of nine branches, a corporate and business banking unit as
well as an executive banking unit.
In 2011, Banif Bank (Malta) plc concluded its fourth year of business activity in Malta. Despite the
international uncertainties, with the European sovereign debt crisis reaching new highs, the risk of global
recession and consequent markets’ volatility, the Bank has again registered significant growth in its business
and reached an important milestone in the second part of the year, by registering the first profits since
incorporation. The Bank has now become a recognised key player in the local market and remains strongly
committed towards becoming the clear third player.
In February 2011, the Bank continued to strengthen its capital base with the issue of 7.5 million convertible
preference shares of EUR1 each. These shares are convertible into ordinary shares only upon future fresh issues
of ordinary shares. The majority shareholder, Banif SGPS SA fully subscribed for these shares.

Review of business development and financial position
Business development
The Bank continues to pursue the growth strategy outlined in its business plan. This will be done through further
investment in the Bank’s infrastructure both in terms of its resource capability and the solutions and products
offered to its customers. The Bank continued launching a number of innovative and very competitive deposit and
lending products with the aim of increasing penetration in all the relevant retail sectors of the market, thus
increasing market share.
The Bank is now operating with nine fully functioning retail branches with the last one opening in Rabat towards
the end of the second quarter of the year under review. This was complemented with the further strengthening of
the operating capability both in the front and back office areas of the Bank. During the year, the Bank opened an
extension to the Head Office premises that became fully operational during March. It also opened its ATM
network to the public after a period of internal use and testing and launched other services such as the Banifast
Bill Payments functionality.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Review of business development and financial position - continued
The Bank also recruited additional human resources to support the increased level of business and ensure
adequate back-office support. In fact, as at end of December 2011 the number of staff working at the Bank
reached 144 (137 as at end of December 2010). The Bank remains committed to guarantee a high level of quality
service and provide a service proposition that best meets the market demands.
It should be noted that this performance occurs during a period of extreme difficulty mainly due to the sovereign
debt crisis in a number of EU countries and the global recession.
Financial performance
During the year under review, the Bank experienced again significant growth, both in its lending portfolio and
operating income. The gross lending portfolio grew by EUR93.964 million, representing an increase of 59.87%
when compared to the amount of EUR156.950 million reached by end of December 2010.,
With respect to the deposit portfolio, the Bank sought to reduce the liquidity risk by carrying out an important
consolidation in terms of registering greater maturity dispersion and reducing concentration of deposits from
international institutional clients. In fact, the decrease in deposits of EUR171.806 million, from EUR433.679
million as at end of December 2010 to EUR261.873 as at end of December 2011 was the result of a large deposit
of EUR250 million from an international institution deposited with the Bank during the second part of 2010 and
withdrawn in March 2011. This deposit was never considered in assessing the sustainability of the Bank’s
business in Malta. Therefore, when this deposit is excluded from the deposit portfolio amount reached as at end
of 2010, the customer deposits increased by 42.6% during 2011 from EUR183.679 million to EUR261.873
million.
During the year under review, the Bank generated a total operating income of EUR8.797 million, representing a
71.62% increase when compared with the figure reported last year of EUR5.126 million. Net interest income
from business carried out with banks and non-banks amounted to EUR5.610 million (2010: EUR3.311 million).
Net fee and commission income amounted to EUR1.255 million (2010: EUR0.806 million) whilst trading
income amounted to EUR1.932 million (2010: EUR1.009 million).
The increase in net fee income and commissions was mainly attributable to more lending fees charged as a result
of the increased lending activity with corporates and to a lesser extent, households. Significant increases were
also registered in fees charged on guarantees issued and other retail banking services.
As far as trading income is concerned, the Bank increased the level of dealing room trading activity in the second
half of 2011. On one hand, there was an increase in foreign currency exchange activities and on the other the set
up of a portfolio composed of local and foreign-quoted corporate and covered bonds with short-term maturities.
Some of these bonds were given as security in funding operations from the European Central Bank.
In total, operating income covered 92.12% of the operating expenses including net impairment provision (2010:
55.85%). This was mainly attributable to the fact that the Bank managed to significantly increase its operating
income whilst at the same time keeping operating expenses at practically 2010 levels. In fact, total operating
expenses, including personnel expenses, depreciation of property and equipment, the amortisation of intangible
assets and other administrative expenses increased by 2.62%, from EUR8.507 million in 2010 to EUR8.730
million in the year under review. Expenses relating to employee compensation and benefits including directors
represent 49.82% (2010: 43.63%) of the total operating costs.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Review of business development and financial position - continued
Impairment
In line with the Bank’s provisioning policy and in consideration of the growth in the portfolio of loans and
advances registered during the year under review, the Bank increased the provisioning by a net amount of
EUR0.813 million (2010: EUR0.670 million) for impairment losses.
The gross increase in provision amounted to EUR1.188 million (2010: EUR0.844 million) whilst reversals of
write-downs amounted to EUR0.375 million (2010: EUR0.174 million).
Total provision for impairment increased by 68.5% whereas the increase in the lending portfolio amounted to
59.87%. The Bank monitors and controls rigorously the increased risk emanating from the growth in the lending
portfolio and constantly seeks to ensure that the level of provisioning is adequate and in line with the growth in
credit risk. The Bank retains that the credit quality of its loan portfolio is satisfactory and the proportion of nonperforming loans to total loans and advances to customers stands at very acceptable levels. Notwithstanding the
Bank remains committed to strengthen the prudential collective provision for impairment taking into
consideration the particular aspects of certain sectors and lending products.
Tax
This performance translated into a loss before tax for the period of EUR0.753 million (2010: EUR4.051 million).
This loss and the possibility of having this offset against future foreseeable profits for tax purposes, resulted in a
positive deferred tax movement of EUR0.178 million (2010: EUR1.378).
Financial position
The Bank continues to exercise sound asset and liability management with a view to ensure sustainable
regulatory ratios in terms of liquidity and capital adequacy. The Bank is fully focused to raise and employ funds
in the local retail and corporate business segments. In doing so, the Bank continues to invest heavily in
strengthening the operational capability and consolidating the investments made in previous years.
Total assets as at end of December 2011 amounted to EUR470.354 million (end of 2010: EUR458.641 million).
The largest component of assets was represented by loans and advances to customers which amounted to
EUR250.914 million (as at end of 2010: EUR156.950 million).
During the period under review, the Bank continued to increase its investment portfolio designated at inception
as ‘Available-for-Sale’ as well as that designated as ‘Held-for-Trading’. Financial investments stood at
EUR65.172 million as at end of December 2011 (as at end of 2010: EUR4.179 million) and together with loans
and advances to banks represent a significant component of the asset base of the Bank.
Investment in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as at end of December 2011 amounted to
EUR9.588 million (as at end of 2010: EUR7.818 million).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Review of business development and financial position - continued
Achievements
During the period under review, and for the second consecutive time, the Bank has been named the Best Banking
Group in Malta for 2011 by World Finance. This award was given in recognition of the Bank’s financial
performance, sound corporate governance and the provision of innovative customer solutions that provide added
value to customers. This was another important achievement and a clear demonstration by clients, employees and
shareholders of their trust in the Bank.
The Bank’s Hello Kitty Card, which is a co-branded Visa Classic Credit Card, has been shortlisted as one of the
most innovative cards in Europe. The Hello Kitty Classic Credit Card was one of the nominees in the Loyalty &
Benefits category in the International Zone for the Publi-News 2011 Trophèes for Innovative Cards.
Moreover, throughout 2011, the Bank continued to demonstrate a strong commitment towards the local
community through its support towards a number of initiatives at a national level. This culminated with the
organisation of The President’s Charity Fun Run 2011 which was, once again, another huge success that
exceeded expectations in terms of attendance.
Outlook
The Bank is set to achieve other important milestones in 2012. This year will again be characterised by further
growth in business volumes. This will be supported by further investments in the Bank’s resource capability,
namely through a further expansion of the branch network, recruitment of additional staff to enhance the
commercial as well as the back office support capabilities and further strengthening of the Bank’s support base
and technical infrastructure.
In doing all this, the Bank will continue investing in immovable property, equipment and software, as well as
investing in training and development of its human resource base, a resource which is considered core to the
Bank’s operations.
Appointments
On 5 August 2011, the Board announced the appointment of Mr Adrian Coppini and Mr Paulo E. Machado
Fernandes as new members of the Executive Committee of the Bank. Mr Coppini and Mr Fernandes now occupy
the posts of Chief Officer Corporate Services and Chief Financial Markets & Investments Officer respectively.
Disclosure in terms of the Sixth Schedule to the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta
During the year ended 31 December 2011, no shares in the Bank were:
•
•
•

purchased by it or acquired by it by forfeiture or surrender or otherwise;
acquired by another person in circumstances where the acquisition was by the Bank’s nominee, or by
another with the Bank’s financial assistance, the Bank itself having a beneficial interest;
made subject to pledge or other privileges, to a hypothec or to any other charge in favour of the Bank.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Preparation of financial statements and Directors’ responsibilities
The Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta (the “Act”) requires the Directors of Banif Bank (Malta) plc
to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Bank for that year in accordance with
the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union.
In preparing such financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•

adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in business;
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting year to another;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
account for income and charges relating to the accounting year on the accruals basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at
any time, the financial position of the Bank and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta and
the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta.
The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors, through management oversight, are responsible to ensure that the Bank establishes and maintains
internal control to provide reasonable assurance with regard to the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness
and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
Management is responsible, with oversight from the Directors, to establish a control environment and maintain
policies and procedures to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and
efficient conduct of the Bank’s business. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining controls
pertaining to the Bank’s objective of preparing financial statements as required by the Act and managing risks
that may give rise to material misstatements in those financial statements. In determining which controls to
implement, to prevent and detect fraud, management considers the risks that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.
Auditors
Messrs. Ernst & Young Malta Limited have signified their willingness to continue in office as auditors of the
Bank and a resolution proposing their reappointment will be put to the Annual General Meeting.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 30 April 2012 by:

LUIS AVIDES MOREIRA
Director

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

WITH

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

Banif Bank (Malta) plc believes that good corporate governance should be the basis of every decision and action
taken by the Bank. Despite the fact that the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Public Interest Companies are
not mandatory, Banif Bank (Malta) plc has endorsed such Guidelines and is committed to implement high
standards of corporate governance, except where the business circumstances merit a different treatment.
This statement indicates the extent to which the Bank has adopted these Guidelines.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors manages the affairs of the Bank and is composed of a Chairman, a Secretary and nine
Directors. The Directors are all highly experienced and of an appropriate calibre which is required in order to
provide the necessary leadership and integrity when directing the Bank. All Directors have occupied or currently
occupy senior positions in various organisations. The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.
The shareholders appoint or remove Directors on the Board using a transparent approach. Each Director shall
remain in office for a period of three years and the remuneration of the Directors is determined from time to time
during a General Meeting of the Board of Directors.
The Chairman leads and sets the agenda of each of the Board of Directors’ meetings. The Directors who have a
direct or indirect interest in any decision taken by the Board of Directors shall inform the same Board, about the
nature of their interest at the meeting and shall not participate and vote in respect of that decision. The Board of
Directors determines the strategic goals and formulates the policies of the Bank, sets the Bank’s values and
standards and regularly reviews the management’s performance towards the attainment of such goals. The Board
of Directors delegates the day-to-day running of the Bank to the Executive Committee (EC) which meets on a
weekly basis. In addition, the roles of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board are kept
separate.
Minutes of all resolutions and proceedings taken at the meetings of the Board of Directors are documented by the
Board Secretary. Such documents are available for scrutiny and perusal by the external auditors and regulators.
During 2011, the Board of Directors met 10 times. The Directors who served on the Board during the period
under review were the following:
Mr Joseph Sammut
Mr Joaquim Silva Pinto
Mr Nuno Pedro Martins
Mr Luis Avides Moreira
Dr Simon Tortell
Mr Edward Cachia Caruana
Dr Carlos David Duarte de Almedia
Mr Artur Fernandes
Mr Kenneth Mizzi
Chev. Maurice Mizzi
Mr Mark Portelli

8

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board has established a number of Committees with specific responsibilities. These Committees are the
following:
The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (EC) meets on a weekly basis to oversee the overall management of the Bank. The EC
is composed of five members, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief Commercial
Officer, the Chief Financial Markets and Investments Officer and the Chief Officer Corporate Services.
Formulation of risk strategies and risk profiles, including policies conducive to the achievement of organisational
goals are the responsibility of the EC, however implementation is delegated to the Departmental Heads through a
formally documented organisational structure with clear and transparent demarcation of functional
responsibilities. The EC is also responsible for assessing credit facilities and taking credit decisions.
The EC also appointed the following committees within the Bank, namely, the Assets and Liabilities Committee
(ALCO), the Budget and Planning Committee, the Credit Committee, the Products Committee and the ICAAP
Committee.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets on a regular basis in order to monitor and review the effectiveness of the Bank’s
internal audit function and also to monitor the financial reporting process and review the Bank’s internal
financial controls.
The Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the appointment of the
Bank’s external auditors, their remuneration and terms of engagement.
The Audit Committee is composed of three non-executive Directors of the Bank and the Bank’s External
Auditors.
The Properties Committee
This Committee meets in order to discuss and advice the EC on any proposals for the acquisition or the rental of
properties to be utilised for the Bank’s activities. At present, the members of this Committee are the Chief
Officer Corporate Services and two non-executive directors. This Committee meets on a monthly basis.
COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED BY THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The EC has established a number of Committees with specific responsibilities. These Committees are the
following:
The Assets and Liabilities Committee
The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is to meets on a regular basis to analyse financial information in
relation to historic and projected data and to assess the various types of risks arising from changes in interest
rates, exchange rates, and the market, that have an impact on the profitability of the Bank and the various other
components of the financial statements. This Committee also drives the commercial activity of the Bank and
reviews liquidity risk, compliance risk and capital adequacy risk. It also sets the framework for the design of
policies to address and manage all these types of risk with a view to ensure that adequate mitigating actions are
taken to reduce the negative impacts of adverse movements on the operations of the Bank and on the financial
statements.
The ALCO is made up of the Members of the Executive Committee, and the coordinators of the Commercial
Management Department, the Global Risk Management Department, the Business Development Department, the
Treasury Department, the Finance & Reporting Department and the Control & Compliance Department.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

The Budget and Planning Committee
The purpose of the Budget and Planning Committee is to liaise closely with the members of the Executive
Committee of the Bank in transposing the vision and strategic objectives of the Board of Directors into detailed
plans. The committee is responsible for coordinating and assisting in the preparation of the budgets of all the
commercial departments and all supporting back-office units. Furthermore, the Committee is responsible for
communicating the budgets, once these are approved by the Board of Directors, and also oversees the actual
implementation of the Bank’s financial plans.
This Committee meets on a quarterly basis and is made up of the members of the Executive Committee, and the
coordinators of the Commercial Management Department, the Finance & Reporting Department, the Human
Resources Department, the Corporate Services Department and the Information Technology Department.
The Credit Committee
This Committee is responsible for assessing credit facilities and taking credit decisions within a certain monetary
and risk bands. Additionally, it makes recommendations to the Executive Committee on credit facilities which
exceed its upper discretionary threshold. It meets regularly and is chaired by the responsible person as indicated
in the Bank’s Credit Policy. The Committee is also coordinated at its different levels according to the same
Credit Policy.
The Products Committee
The Products Committee meets on a monthly basis in order to maintain a structured approach towards assessing
and developing new products. This Committee is chaired by the coordinator of the Business Development
Department and its members consist of coordinators from the Finance & Reporting Department, the Information
Technology Department, the Treasury Department, the Control & Compliance Department, the Global Risk
Management Department, the Quality Control & Processes Department and the Commercial Management
Department.
The ICAAP Committee
In order to comply with Pillar 2 requirements emanating from the MFSA Banking Rule, as well as to better
manage its overall risk-taking activities, the Bank has set up the ICAAP Committee.
This Committee meets on a regular basis in order to define the risk strategy of the Bank, to identify and quantify
the risks the Bank is exposed to, and to quantify the risk taking capacity of the Bank.
Besides submitting the ICAAP report both to the local and Portuguese Regulators, the Committee is now geared
towards going beyond mere technical compliance with Pillar 2 requirements by further reinforcing the soundness
of the risk culture and economic capital management with active participation from all areas of the Bank, namely
the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee, the Global Risk Management Department, the Treasury
Department, the Finance & Reporting Department, the Control & Compliance Department, the Internal Audit
Office and other relevant business areas/functions.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for internal control within the Bank. The Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the basic roles of corporate responsibility, namely accountability, monitoring,
strategy formulation and policy development are implemented throughout the Bank. From time to time the Board
approves procedures which are aimed at ensuring risk mitigation and the achievement of the Bank’s objectives.
The Board of Directors delegates to the Executive Committee the authority to operate the Bank within the limits
set by the same Board.
On a regular basis, the Bank issues Rules and Procedures to control and/or mitigate material operational risks.
Such policies are subject to a periodic review so as to adjust the process in accordance with the current
operational risk profile. These Rules and Procedures are circulated and adhered to by staff at all times. In
addition such Rules and Procedures are kept permanently on the Bank’s intranet so that staff have access to such
documents at all times. Any deviance from policy parameters must be sanctioned outside such policy by the
applicable sanctioning level. The institution prides itself on practising high ethical and professional standards and
a very serious view of any deviance is taken. A robust internal control mechanism premised on separate
Compliance, Audit and Risk functions is also followed.
The central plank of the organisation’s risk management strategy is the fact that not only is the risk function
totally independent of all other Bank functions, but additionally the Global Risk Management Department
officials cannot interact directly with customers in respect of business matters in any way. The function’s
independence facilitates the implementation of risk policies as it is completely insulated from customer
interaction and thus free from any customer induced bias. Achievement of adequate management of the
institution’s risks is accomplished through a holistic approach, designed to ensure that the entire organisation is
aware of the nature and scale of the risks involved in the Bank’s operations.
In addition, the Bank believes in and practices an internal control mechanism founded on the four-eyes principle,
functional segregation and audit procedures. The Control and Compliance Department advises and keeps senior
management informed on the implication of compliance laws and regulations that have a bearing on the Bank’s
operations. The Department also identifies, documents and assesses the compliance risks associated with the
Bank’s operational activities, including the development of new products and business practices.
The Internal Audit Office, on the other hand, monitors the conformity of the Bank’s operations with the set
policies and standards and reviews key business processes and controls. The frequency of the internal audit
reviews depends on the risk profile of the audited function.
The responsibility for the development of financial forecasts of the Bank in line with the strategic plans devised
by the Board is delegated to the Budget and Planning Committee. These financial forecasts provide the basis for
continuous monitoring and control at various levels within the Bank. The relevant functions are then responsible
to report on financial performance against plans to the Board on a monthly basis, identifying reasons for
variances and, if necessary, corrective actions that need to be taken to ensure that objectives and targets set by
the Board are achieved.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

REMUNERATION REPORT
Directors’ remuneration for the financial year under review was as follows:
EUR
Directors’ salaries paid to full-time Bank employees
Directors’ fees

254,117
181,990

The Directors’ fees were paid to non-executive Directors as follows:
EUR
Artur Fernandes
Carlos David Duarte de Almeida
Edward Cachia Caruana
Joseph Sammut
Kenneth Mizzi
Mark Portelli
Maurice Mizzi
Simon Tortell

14,444
22,679
16,919
69,881
15,000
18,457
13,843
10,767
_______________

181,990
_______________
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Community
Throughout 2011, Banif Bank renewed its commitment towards the local community through its support towards
the restoration and conservation of one of Malta’s most important Early Renaissance paintings identified by The
Research Programme for the Study of Medieval and Early Renaissance Art in the Department of History of Art
(Faculty of Arts, University of Malta), directed by Professor Mario Buhagiar. The oils on board painting of the
Enthroned Virgin and Child on the altar of the Virgin of the Rosary in the St Catherine Parish Church of Zejtun,
is one of the finest Early Renaissance paintings in Maltese Collections. It carries the signature of Pedro -Nuñez
de Villavicencio (1640-c. 1695) and the date 1672 on the Virgin’s throne, and has for long been thought to be a
copy of a much venerated, prestigious, lost, Renaissance painting. One other copy is executed in oils on canvas
and is situated at Verdala Palace, Buskett.
The Bank also hosted an exhibition with works from four prominent Gozitan artists named Mr. Victor Agius,
Mr. Mario Cassar, Mr. Justin Falzon, and Mr. Paul Stellini, at its branch in Victoria, Gozo. Minister for Gozo
Giovanna Debono was one of the distinguished guests visiting the art exhibition and positively commented on
the Bank’s initiative to promote local artists. The exhibition was part of the activities of ‘Lejlet Lapsi – Notte
Gozitana’, an initiative organised in Gozo.
The Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in association with Banif Bank (Malta) plc, published a new edition of the
Travel Manual, an information booklet for travellers. The first edition of the travel manual was published in 2009
and its success could easily be measured when the 20,000 copies printed were distributed over a few months.
This incentivised the Ministry to publish the second edition with revised information.
In November, Banif Bank announced its support towards the International Forum 2012 by hosting a breakfast
meeting in the presence of HRH The Prince Edward, the Earl of Wessex. To mark the occasion, Banif also
launched a special product offer, tailored to encourage youths participating in the President’s Award, to manage
their money wisely and save for their future. The breakfast event, held at The Exchange Buildings in Valletta,
was also attended by a number of distinguished guests, including The Hon Mr Clyde Puli, Parliamentary
Secretary for Youth and Sport, Professor Kenneth Wain, the Commissioner for Voluntary Organisations and Mr
Tancred Tabone, the President of the Malta Chamber of Commerce, Enterprise and Industry. Representatives of
youth organisations and other NGOs, Heads of Schools participating in the President’s Award as well as a
number of editors in the forefront of the local media scene were also present.
Banif Bank’s support towards the Maltese society culminated in the organisation of The President’s Charity Fun
Run 2011 which was, once again beyond doubt a huge success and exceeded expectations in terms of
attendance.
Banif strongly believes in the core concept of the Fun Run – that of bringing the local community together to
achieve one final goal, to offer solidarity and financial support to members in our society who are going through
difficult situations and are therefore in need of our help.
The Bank’s commitment was not only limited to a financial one, but Banif was also directly involved in helping
the Malta Community Chest Fund organise the event. Another symbol to show its appreciation to the participants
was the special offer which the Bank presented together with the bibs and t-shirt upon registration. These special
offers range from an advantageous rate on the standard one-year term deposit as well as beneficial rates on
unsecured personal loans providing a choice to each participant depending on their particular requirements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

Environment
Banif is dedicated to leave its mark wherever it operates, by making valid contributions towards the protection of
the environment. Banif has defined objectives both internally and externally. Internally, Banif continuously
reminds all its employees about the need to reduce energy consumption at the workplace and at home. On an
external level, Banif confirmed its commitment to reduce its impact on the environment, in line with the Group’s
Environmental Policy, through its participation in Earth Hour.
Banif Bank (Malta) plc participated in Earth Hour - a global event organised by WWF (World Wide Fund for
Nature, also known as World Wildlife Fund) on the 26 March 2011 between 8:30 p.m. and 9:30 pm. Earth Hour
is held annually on the last Saturday of March, inviting households and businesses to turn off their non-essential
lights and other electrical appliances for one hour to raise awareness of the need to take action on climate
change. Banif Bank (Malta) plc participated in this event with the rest of the Banif Group by switching off all the
external signage of its branches in Malta and Gozo.
As a Maltese bank with the local community at heart, Banif Bank (Malta) plc is committed to contribute towards
the conservation of the environment. In this regard, Banif has sponsored an area within Foresta 2000, the
afforestation project which is administered by the Ministry for Rural Affairs and the Environment, in
collaboration with Din l-Art Ħelwa and BirdLife Malta. Foresta 2000 was inaugurated eleven years ago to mark
the beginning of the new millennium.
In November, Banif employees met at the reserve in Għadira and spent the afternoon planting a variety of trees
namely Żnuber (Aleppo Pine) - the Maltese pine tree; Ballut (Holm Oak) – a tree which was often seen on the
Maltese Islands but which is becoming increasingly rare and Siġar tal-Għargħar (Araar Tree) - the national
Maltese tree which is also rare in the wild.
This initiative is in line with the Bank’s Sustainability Strategy. It is a tangible way of showing our commitment
to help counteract the Bank’s footprint in carbon emissions. Planting more trees in the environment is one of the
many ways that the Bank manifests itself in the ongoing effort of taking care of the community we live in.
Employees
The Bank strongly believes in training talented individuals to sustain its growth. Employees also enjoy a number
of staff benefits to promote motivation and well being in the workplace. Moreover, this is achieved through
continuous training, both in-house and external, which is periodically provided to the employees.
The Sports and Activities Committee, also makes a great effort to organise staff events to enhance team building
amongst all employees outside the work environment.

14

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

GOING CONCERN
Having taken into consideration the Bank’s performance and the Bank’s future strategic goals, the Directors
declare that the Bank is able to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 30 April 2012 by:

LUIS AVIDES MOREIRA
Director

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman
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Regional Business Centre
Achille Ferris Street
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Tel: +356 2134 2134
Fax: +356 2133 0280
Email: ey.malta@mt.ey.com
Web: www.ey.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Banif Bank (Malta) plc (‘the Bank’), set on pages
18 to 85, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
As described in the Directors’ Report set out on pages 3 to 7, the directors are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and the requirements of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws
of Malta, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements:
·
·

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2011, and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 and the
Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC - continued
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Auditors’ Responsibility
We are required by the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta, to report whether we have obtained all the
information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief are necessary for the purposes of our
audit, whether in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank so far as appears from our
examination thereof, whether these financial statements are in agreement with the books, and whether in our
opinion, and to the best of our knowledge and according to the explanations given to us, these financial
statements give the information required by law or regulations in the manner so required and give a true and fair
view.
We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purposes of our audit. In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank so
far as appears from our examination thereof and the financial statements are in agreement with the books.
We also have responsibilities under the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta to report to you if in our
opinion:
·
·
·
·
·

The information given in the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements.
Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us.
The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records.
We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
If certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial statements,
giving the required particulars in our report.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

This copy of the audit report has been signed by
Mario P. Galea for and on behalf of

Ernst & Young Malta Limited
Certified Public Accountants
30 April 2012
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INCOME STATEMENT

Notes
Interest receivable and similar income
on loans and advances and balances with the
Central Bank of Malta and other instruments
on debt and other fixed income instruments
Interest payable and similar expense

5
5
6

2011
EUR’000

10,823
783
(5,996)
________________

Net interest income

Net trading income

7

8

Total operating income

Employee compensation and benefits
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

9
10
19
20

3,311
_______________

Net impairment losses

806
_______________

1,932

1,009

________________

_______________

8,797

5,126

________________

_______________

(4,349)
(3,690)
(467)
(224)
(8,730)

67

11

(820)
________________

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

(753)
12

Loss for the year

Loss per share

(3,712)
(4,182)
(485)
(128)
_______________

(8,507)
_______________

(3,381)

(670)
_______________

(4,051)

175

1,376

________________

_______________

(578)

13

_______________

1,255

________________

Net operating profit/(loss) before impairment
and provisions

1,022
(216)

________________

________________

Total operating expenses

_______________

5,610

________________

Net fee and commission income

6,760
(3,449)

________________

1,597
(342)

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

2010
EUR’000

(2,675)

________________

_______________

EUR

EUR

(2.97c)

(10.7c)

________________

_______________

18

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2011
EUR’000
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale investments
change in fair value

(4)
________________

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

_______________

(4)
________________

Total comprehensive income for the year

2010
EUR’000

(582)
________________

_______________

(2,675)
_______________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 24 to 85 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2011
Notes
ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cheques in course of collection
Financial investments held-for-trading
Financial investments available-for-sale
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
22
23
21

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

24
25
22
26
27

TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Issued capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

28
29
29

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

7,771
4,323
41,403
23,769
127,780
248,915
6,441
728
108
3,533
5,461
122

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

_______________

_______________

470,354

458,641

_______________

_______________

181,518
261,873
34
2,787
2,812

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

_______________

_______________

449,024

444,229

_______________

_______________

32,500
(11,166)
(4)
_______________

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

25,000
(10,588)
_______________

21,330

14,412

_______________

_______________

470,354

458,641

_______________

_______________

Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

4,905

5,159

_______________

_______________

33

67,060

63,254

_______________

_______________

33

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 24 to 85 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 18 to 85 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and signed on its
behalf on 30 April 2012 by:

LUIS AVIDES MOREIRA
Director

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

At 1 January 2010
Total comprehensive income

Issued
capital
EUR’000

Revaluation
reserve
EUR’000

Retained
earnings
EUR’000

25,000

-

(7,913)

17,087

-

-

(2,675)

(2,675)

Total
EUR’000

_______________________________________________________________________

Balance at 31 December 2010

25,000

-

(10,588)

14,412

_______________________________________________________________________

At 1 January 2011

25,000

-

Issued Share Capital

7,500

-

-

-

-

(4)

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Available for sale investments
Change in fair value

(10,588)
(578)

14,412
7,500
(578)

-

(4)

_______________________________________________________________________

Total Comprehensive Income
Issued Share Capital

7,500

(4)
-

(578)
-

(582)
7,500

_______________________________________________________________________

Balance at 31 December 2011

32,500

(4)

(11,166)

(21,330)

_______________________________________________________________________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 24 to 85 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2011
EUR’000
Operating activities
Interest received
Fees and commission received
Interest paid
Fees and commission paid
Proceeds from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers

10,915
1,447
(5,399)
(342)
241
(7,817)
________________

Operating loss before changes in operating assets/liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in operating assets
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets held-for-trading
Other assets
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Other liabilities

Income tax paid

1,809
282
(93,964)
(36,224)
(4,611)

(1,496)
15,181
(96,947)
2,499
315

39,267
(171,806)
447

287,613
700

(265,755)
(3)
(265,758)
________________

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment and
intangible assets
Purchase of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from available-for-sale investments
Interest received on available-for-sale investments

(1,711)
(55,127)
31,354
702
________________

Net cash flows used in investing activities

_______________

(2,562)

________________

Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities

5,836
1,022
(2,351)
(216)
1,015
(7,868)

(955)

________________

Operating (loss) / profit after changes in operating assets/liabilities

2010
EUR’000

(24,782)
________________

_______________

205,303
(2)
_______________

205,301
_______________

(569)
_______________

(569)
_______________
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - continued
2011
EUR’000
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of cumulative convertible
preference shares
Net cash flows from financing activities

2010
EUR’000

7,500

-

________________

_______________

7,500

-

________________

_______________

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(283,040)

204,732

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

8,294
(291,334)

1,045
203,687

________________

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 31)

(283,040)

_______________

204,732

271,920

67,188

________________

_______________

(11,120)
________________

271,920
_______________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 24 to 85 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (“the Bank”) is a public limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in
Malta. The company was incorporated on 27 March 2007. It started operating as a fully-fledged retail bank
during January 2008.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared and presented in accordance with the provisions of the
Banking Act, Cap. 371 and the Companies Act, Cap. 386 (the “Act”) of the Laws of Malta, which requires
adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
The Bank presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding
recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after
the reporting date (non-current) is presented in note 34.
The Act specifies that in the event that any one of its provisions is in conflict or not compatible with IFRSs
and their interpretation as adopted by the European Union or its application is incompatible with the
obligation for the financial statements to give a true and fair view, that provision shall be departed from in
order to give a true and fair view. The Bank has not departed from any IFRS provisions as adopted by the
European Union.

2.2

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for available-for-sale
financial assets, derivative financial instruments and financial assets held-for-trading which are measured at
fair value.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Euro (EUR), which currency represents the functional currency of
the Bank. All values are rounded to the nearest EUR thousand.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Use of available information and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material
to the financial statements. These estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and if a change is needed, it is
accounted in the period the changes become known.
In the opinion of the management, the accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements made in the
course of preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which
would warrant their description as significant in terms of the requirements of IAS 1 (revised)-‘Presentation
of financial statements’, except as disclosed below.

24

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements - continued
The most significant uses of judgement and estimates are as follows:
Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the
going concern basis.
Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, it is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market
data where possible, but where observable market data is not available, judgement is required to establish
fair values. The judgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for
longer dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset backed
securities. The valuation of financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 34.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether
an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement. In particular, judgement by management is
required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment
loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes judgements about the borrower’s financial situation
and the net realisable value of the collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.
Loans and advances, that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually
insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk
characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there
is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes account of data
from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, level of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios
etc.), concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices
indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups).
The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 11 and Note 18.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits,
together with future tax planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.5

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as endorsed by the European
Union effective in the current year
The Bank has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year.
Adoption of these revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial
performance or position of the Bank.
IAS 24

Related Party Disclosures (Revised) effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011
IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments relating to classification of rights issues
effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 February 2010
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction (Amendments) effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Improvements to IFRSs (Issued by the IASB in May 2010) - The amendments in the 2010 Improvements
to IFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010, except for the amendments to
IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS 34 and IFRIC 13 which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011.
2.6

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the European
Union that are not yet effective
Up to date of approval of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective for the current reporting period and which
the Bank has not early adopted. None of the below mentioned standards will have an effect on the Bank’s
financial position and performance. These are as follows:
IFRS 7

2.7

Amendments – Disclosures-Transfer of financial assets effective for annual period beginning
on or after 1 July 2011

Standards, interpretations and amendments that are not yet adopted by the European Union
The following standards, interpretations and amendments have been issued by the IASB but not yet
endorsed by the EU:
IFRS 7
IFRS 9
IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13
IAS 1
IAS 12
IAS 19
IAS 27
IAS 28
IAS 32
IFRIC 20

Amendments – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial Instruments
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities
Fair Value Measurement
Amendments – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
Amendments – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
Amendments – Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.7

Standards, interpretations and amendments that are not yet adopted by the European Union continued
IFRS 9 Financial instruments, is being finalized in phases, the first phase on classification and
measurement was completed, however further discussions to make a number of limited scope changes are
planned. The second phase, relating to the impairment of amortized cost financial assets is currently being
completed. The third phase relating to hedge accounting is so far not relevant to the Bank. On
16 December 2011, the IASB issued Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures,
which amends IFRS 9 to require application for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 rather
than 1 January 2013. The adoption of IFRS 9 will primarily have an effect on the classification and
measurement of the Bank’s financial assets. The Bank is currently assessing the impact of adopting IFRS
9, however the impact of adoption depends on the assets held by the Bank at the date of adoption, therefore
it is not practical to quantify the effect at this stage.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised:
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial
recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs, and
discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
liability.
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is accounted for in the period when receivable, except where such income is
charged to cover the cost of a continuing service to, or risk borne for, the customer, or is interest in nature.
In these cases, such income is recognised on an appropriate basis over the relevant period.
Dividend income
Revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Net trading income
Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related
interest income or expense and dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities ‘held-for-trading’.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on the substance of
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Bank as a lessee
Leases which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the leased items are operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Contingent rents payable are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Foreign currency translation
These financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, whereas non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Gains and losses arising from such foreign exchange translations are taken to profit or loss, except for gains
and losses resulting from the translation of available-for-sale non-monetary assets, which are recognised in
equity.
Financial instruments
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, held-for-trading, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial
assets, as appropriate. When financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets or financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial assets
or financial liabilities. The Bank determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial period-end.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the date
that the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank uses derivatives such as cross currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts.
Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in ‘Net trading
income’.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading
Financial assets or financial liabilities held-for-trading, comprising financial instruments held-for-trading
other than derivatives, are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value
are recognised in profit or loss. Interest and dividend income or expenses are recorded in income according
to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has been established.
Included in this classification are debt securities, equities and short positions in debt securities and securities
which have been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are those that have been designated by
management on initial recognition.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of
financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Interest earned or
incurred is accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, according to the terms of the contract.
The Bank did not include any assets in this category during 2011 and 2010.
Held-to-maturity financial investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity when the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments
intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification. Other long-term
investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially
recognised amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in
income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
The Bank did not include any assets in this category during 2011 and 2010.
Loans and advances to banks and to customers
‘Loans and advances to banks’ and ‘Loans and advances to customers’ are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market. They are
not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as ‘Financial
assets held-for-trading’, designated as ‘Financial investment – available-for-sale’ or ‘Financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss’.
After initial measurement, loans and advances to banks and to customers are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in ‘Interest receivable and similar
income’ in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in ‘Net impairment
losses’.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
‘available-for-sale’ are those which are neither classified as ‘Held-for-trading’ nor ‘Designated at fair value
through profit or loss’. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes
in the market conditions.
After initial recognition, available-for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses
being recognised directly in equity (other comprehensive income) in the ‘Revaluation reserve’. When the
investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the
income statement in ‘Net trading income’. Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the same
security they are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis. Interest earned whilst holding
available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest income using the effective interest rate.
Dividends earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments are recognised in the income
statement as ‘Inter’ when the right of the payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment
of such investments are recognised in the income statement in ‘Impairment losses on financial investments’
and removed from the ‘Revaluation reserve’.
Reclassification of financial assets
As from 1 July 2008, the Bank was permitted to reclassify, in certain circumstances, non-derivative
financial assets out of the ‘Held-for-trading’ category and into the ‘Available-for-sale’, ‘Loans and
receivables’, or ‘Held-to-maturity’ categories. From this date it was also permitted to reclassify, in certain
circumstances, financial instruments out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category and into the ‘Loans and
receivables’ category. Reclassifications are recorded at fair value at the date of reclassification, which
becomes the new amortised cost.
For a financial asset reclassified out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category, any previous gain or loss on that
asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the
expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the
income statement.
The Bank may reclassify a non-derivative trading asset out of the ‘Held-for-trading’ category and into the
‘Loans and receivables’ category if it meets the definition of loans and receivables and the Bank has the
intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. If a financial
asset is reclassified, and if the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts as a result
of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment
to the effective interest rate from the date of the change in estimate.
Reclassification is at the election of management, and is determined on an instrument by instrument basis.
The Bank does not reclassify any financial instrument into the fair value through profit or loss category
after initial recognition.
The Bank did not reclassify any of its assets during 2011 and 2010.
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:
•
•

•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and
has either transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing
involvement in the asset.
Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
Determination of fair value
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include the discounted cash flow method,
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, options pricing models, credit
models and other relevant valuation models.
Certain financial instruments are recorded at fair value using valuation techniques in which current market
transactions or observable market data are not available. Their fair value is determined using a valuation
model that has been tested against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the Bank’s best
estimate of the most appropriate model assumptions. Models are adjusted to reflect the spread for bid and
ask prices to reflect costs to close out positions, counterparty credit and liquidity spread and limitations in
the models. Also, profit or loss calculated when such financial instruments are first recorded is deferred and
recognised only when the inputs become observable or on derecognition of the instrument.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 35.
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Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the
future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.
The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually
significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant assets found not to be
specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by bringing
together financial assets (carried at amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics.
Loans and advances to banks and to customers
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the
Bank’s internal credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry,
geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower,
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a
security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status
of borrowers or issuers in the Bank, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the Bank.
For loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present
value of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets’ original effective interest rate. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised loan reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or
not foreclosure is probable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. Loans
together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Bank.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the ‘Net impairment losses’.
Renegotiated and rescheduled loans
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may
involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement on new loan conditions. Once the terms
have been renegotiated any impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated
before the modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continually
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the
loan’s original effective interest rate.
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Property and equipment
All property and equipment is stated at cost (excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing), less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by
changing the depreciation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis so as to write off the cost of each asset to its residual
value over its estimated useful economic life. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Land and buildings:
Freehold
Leasehold
Computer equipment
Other equipment

20 years
10 years
4 years
6 - 10 years

Property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit and loss in the
period the asset is derecognised. The asset’s residual value, useful life and method is reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial period end.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of computer software and other intangibles which include licenses. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial
period end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets
with finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function
of the intangible asset.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Computer software is amortised over 4 years.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. Other intangibles are assessed as having an indefinite
useful life.
A summary of the policies applied to the Bank’s intangible assets is as follows:

Useful lives
Amortisation method used

Computer Software
Finite
Amortised on a straight
line basis

Other intangibles
Indefinite
No Amortisation
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Impairment of non-financial assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Bank makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such
reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its
remaining useful life.
Taxation
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current
income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

•

where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
a liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:
•

•

where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Taxation - continued
Deferred income tax - continued
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred income tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Retirement benefit costs
The Bank contributes towards the Government pension defined contribution plan in accordance with local
legislation and to which it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions. These
obligations are recognised as an expense in the income statement as they accrue. The Bank does not
contribute towards any other retirement benefit plans.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
(i)

cash in hand and deposits repayable on call or short notice or with an original contractual period to
maturity of less than three months, with any bank or financial institution;

(ii)

short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
without notice, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and with an original contractual
period of maturity of less than three months; and

(iii) advances to/from banks repayable within three months from the date of the advance.
Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair
value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each
guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required
to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the financial guarantee.
The premium received is recognised in the income statement in ‘Fees and commission income’ on a straight
line basis over the life of the guarantee.
Revaluation reserve
The reserve recorded in equity on the bank’s statement of financial position includes a revaluation reserve
which comprises of changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.
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Cumulative convertible preference shares
The cumulative convertible preference shares are treated entirely as equity. The terms of the contract
envisage that such shares are convertible into ordinary shares only upon future fresh issue of ordinary
shares and cumulative dividends are paid only when the first dividends are paid to ordinary shareholders.

4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The segment reporting of the Bank is made in terms of the business segments which it conducts its business
in, as the risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services
produced. The Bank is currently organised into three main business segments:
Retail banking
Corporate banking
Other

– Principally handling customers’ deposits, providing consumer loans,
overdrafts and funds transfer facilities.
– Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit and current
accounts for corporate and institutional customers.
– Principally treasury and other central functions.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on operating profit or loss. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating
segments.
Interest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as a performance
measure, not the gross income or expense.
Other than revenue generated from business carried out with the Banif SGPS SA, no revenue from
transactions with a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Bank’s total
revenue in 2011 or 2010. This is included with the ‘Other’ business segment in the tables below and a
detailed analysis of all the balances held and income earned is included in Note 32 dealing with Related
Party Disclosures.
No reconciliation is required since there are no differences between the measurements of the reportable
segments’ profits or losses, assets and liabilities and the entity’s profit or loss, assets and liabilities.
The following tables present income, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Bank’s
business segments for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010:
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External operating income
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income

Retail
Banking
2011
EUR’000

Corporate
Banking
2011
EUR’000

Other
2011
EUR’000

Total
2011
EUR’000

2,677
382
-

2,807
683
-

126
190
1,932

5,610
1,255
1,932

___________________________________________________________________________

Total operating income
Net impairment losses

3,059
(424)

3,490
(396)

2,248
-

8,797
(820)

___________________________________________________________________________

Net operating income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and
equipment
Amortisation of
intangible assets

2,635

3,094

2,248

7,977

(2,635)
(2,021)

(1,102)
(928)

(612)
(741)

(4,349)
(3,690)

(243)

(129)

(95)

(467)

(116)

(63)

(45)

(224)

___________________________________________________________________________

Segment result

(2,380)

872

755

(753)

___________________________________________________________________________

Income tax credit

175
____________

Loss for the year

(578)
____________

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

159,308

101,153

200,430

460,891
9,463
____________

Total assets

470,354
____________

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

223,653

40,347

183,799

447,799
1,225
____________

Total liabilities

449,024
____________
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External operating income
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income

Retail
Banking
2010
EUR’000

Corporate
Banking
2010
EUR’000

Other
2010
EUR’000

Total
2010
EUR’000

650
248
-

1,403
333
-

1,258
225
1,009

3,311
806
1,009

___________________________________________________________________________

Total operating income
Net impairment losses

898
(437)

1,736
(233)

2,492
-

5,126
(670)

___________________________________________________________________________

Net operating income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and
equipment
Amortisation of
intangible assets

461

1,503

2,492

4,456

(2,040)
(1,661)

(1,010)
(1,234)

(662)
(1,287)

(3,712)
(4,182)

(299)

(109)

(77)

(485)

(44)

(42)

(42)

(128)

___________________________________________________________________________

Segment result

(3,583)

(892)

424

(4,051)

___________________________________________________________________________

Income tax credit

1,376
____________

Loss for the year

(2,675)
____________

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

99,185

64,552

287,904

451,641
7,000
____________

Total assets

458,641
____________

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

134,952

172,911

135,316

443,179
1,050
____________

Total liabilities

444,229
____________

There was no other segmental information of relevance to report as at the reporting date. Geographical
segmentation information is not appropriate due to the limited size of the market.
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INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

On loans and advances to banks (note i)
On loans and advances to customers (note ii)
On balances with Central Bank of Malta
Other

On available-for-sale, debt and fixed income instruments
- interest
- amortisation of discounts and premiums

Total interest receivable and similar income

6.

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

550
10,216
57
-

1,639
5,077
42
2

_______________

_______________

10,823

6,760

_______________

_______________

784
(1)

-

_______________

_______________

783

-

_______________

_______________

11,606

6,760

_______________

_______________

i.

The income earned from loans and advances to banks is almost entirely made up of interest earned
on balances and placements held with banks in Banif Group.

ii.

Interest income on loans and advances to customers includes that generated from impaired financial
assets which amounted to EUR634,408 (2010: EUR214,039).

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

On amounts owed to banks
On amounts owed to customers

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

758
5,238

41
3,408

_______________

_______________

5,996

3,449

_______________

_______________
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NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees
Total fees and commission income

Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees
Total fees and commission expense

Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees
Net fees and commission income

8.

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

715
882

576
446

________________

_______________

1,597

1,022

________________

_______________

342

4
212

________________

_______________

342

216

________________

_______________

715
540

572
234

________________

_______________

1,255

806

________________

_______________

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

688
66
1,000

474
(22)
207

________________

_______________

NET TRADING INCOME

Debt securities
- Interest
- Realised gains/(losses) on sale
- Unrealised fair value gains /(losses)

Foreign exchange
- From derivatives
- From commercial business activities

Net trading income

1,754

659

________________

_______________

(25)
203

82
268

________________

_______________

178

350

________________

_______________

1,932

1,009

________________

_______________

‘Debt securities’ income includes the results of buying and selling, changes in the fair value and the related
interest income and expense of debt securities.
‘Foreign exchange income from derivatives’ includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts and
other currency derivatives.
‘Foreign exchange income from other activities’ includes gains from foreign exchange in retail trade as
well as from foreign exchange transactions carried through debit and credit cards.
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EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS
2011
EUR’000
Directors’ remuneration
Wages and salaries
- executive officers and senior managerial
- other managerial, supervisory and clerical
- others
Social security costs
- executive officers and senior managerial
- other managerial, supervisory and clerical
- others

Total employee compensation and benefits

2010
EUR’000

436

382

________________

_______________

1,573
2,061
50

1,387
1,690
67

67
157
5

55
125
6

________________

_______________

3,913

3,330

________________

_______________

4,349

3,712

________________

_______________

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the years 2011 and 2010 was as follows:

Executive officers and senior managerial
Other managerial, supervisory and clerical
Others

10.

2011
Number of
employees

2010
Number of
employees

36
91
3

34
80
4

________________

_______________

130

118

________________

_______________

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

66
873
690
1,162
101
798

62
1,309
1,040
868
100
803

________________

_______________

OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Administrative expenses include:

Auditors' remuneration (note i)
Information system and communications
Business development
Corporate Services
Regulatory expenses
Other

3,690

4,182

________________

_______________
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OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES - continued
i. Auditors’ remuneration include assurance related services of EUR18,000 (2010: EUR18,000) and non-audit
services of EUR18,000 (2010: EUR14,000), payable to the Bank’s auditors.
ii. In terms of Legal Notice 109 of 2010 amending the Depositor Compensation Scheme Regulations of 2003,
the Bank paid an additional cash contribution to the Depositor Compensation Scheme in March 2011 of
EUR74,192. This is included under Regulatory expenses. In total, from incorporation up to 31st December
2011, the Bank has contributed EUR151,744 in variable contributions. This represents 0.1% of eligible
deposits as at end of December 2010. In terms of said Regulations, the Bank is obliged to pay additional cash
contributions to the Scheme in line with increases in eligible deposits as at end of December of each year by
1st of March of the following year. The cash contribution to be paid in 2012 amounts to EUR89,106.

11.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Write-downs
Loans and advances to customers
- Collective impairment
- Individual impairment
- Bad debts written off

Reversals of write-downs
Loans and advances to customers
- Collective impairment
- Individual impairment

Net impairment losses

12.

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

657
531
7

512
332
-

________________

_______________

1,195

844

________________

_______________

(211)
(164)

(105)
(69)

________________

_______________

(375)

(174)

________________

_______________

820

670

________________

_______________

INCOME TAX CREDIT
The components of income tax for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are:
2011
EUR’000
Income Statement:
Current income tax
Deferred income tax

(3)
178
________________

2010
EUR’000
(2)
1,378
_______________

175

1,376

________________

_______________
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12.

INCOME TAX CREDIT - continued
The tax on loss on ordinary activities and the result of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable tax rate
in Malta of 35% are reconciled as follows:
2011
EUR’000
(753)

Loss before tax

________________

(264)

Tax at the applicable rate of 35%
Tax effect of:
- non-recoverable foreign withholding tax
- non-deductible expenses

(4,051)
_______________

(1,418)

3
86

2
40

________________

_______________

Income tax credit

(175)
________________

13.

2010
EUR’000

(1,376)
_______________

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss attributable to the shareholders of the Bank
as shown in the statement of comprehensive income divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. The net loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders is adjusted for
the after-tax amount of the cumulative convertible preference dividend at 4%.

2011
EUR’000
(741)

Net loss attributable to shareholders

2010
EUR’000
(2,675)

________________

_______________

2011

2010

000s

000s

25,000

25,000

________________

_______________

Weighted average number of ordinary shares*

* No new ordinary shares were issued during the year (refer to note 28).

14.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF MALTA

Balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cash

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

5,008
2,763

4,513
2,094

_______________

_______________

7,771

6,607

_______________

_______________
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14.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF MALTA - continued
The average balance of the reserve deposit required at year end in terms of Article 37 of the Central Bank
of Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta with the Central Bank of Malta was of EUR3,139,064 (2010:
EUR4,947,870).
The balances with Central Bank of Malta also include an amount of EUR406,675 which is pledged in
favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme in terms of the Depositor Compensation Scheme
Regulations of 2003 as amended by Legal Notice 227 of 2009 and Legal Notice 109 of 2010.

15.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS HELD-FOR-TRADING
Financial assets designated as ‘Held-for-Trading’ included the following:

i.
ii.

i.

Debt and other fixed income instruments
Other non-fixed income instruments

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

29,433
11,970

3,282
897

_______________

_______________

41,403

4,179

_______________

_______________

599

-

2,727
21,077
5,030

1,616
1,666

_______________

_______________

Debt and other fixed income instruments

Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks:
local
foreign
Other debt securities

Fixed income instruments held with:
other related companies
Listing Status:
listed on Malta Stock Exchange
listed elsewhere

29,433

3,282

_______________

_______________

56

912

_______________

_______________

3,383
26,050

3,282
-

_______________

_______________

29,433

3,282

_______________

_______________

3,282
34,166
(3,632)
(4,391)
8

3,314
27,913
(26,116)
(1,771)
(58)
-

_______________

_______________

Summary of movements during the year:
At the beginning of the year
acquisitions
disposals
redemptions
movement in fair value
exchange adjustment
At the end of the year

29,433

3,282

_______________

_______________
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15.

FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD-FOR-TRADING continued
ii.

Other non-fixed income instruments

Debt securities issued by banks:
Foreign
Other debt securities

Non-fixed income instruments held with:
Parent company
Other related companies

Listing Status:
- listed elsewhere

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

3,185
8,785

897
-

_______________

_______________

11,970

897

_______________

_______________

8,785

897
-

_______________

_______________

8,785

897

_______________

_______________

11,970

897

_______________

_______________

897
10,057
(4,375)
5,391

3,452
281
(2,745)
(91)

_______________

_______________

Summary of movements during the year:
At the beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Redemptions
Movement in fair value
At the end of the year

11,970

897

_______________

_______________

Financial assets held-for-trading with a carrying amount of EUR 29,652,665 have been pledged in favour
of the Central Bank of Malta against the provision of credit facilities (Note 24).

16.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS – AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
Financial investments classified as ‘available-for-sale’ were made as follows:

i.
ii.

Debt and other fixed income instruments
Other non-fixed income instruments

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

2,140
21,629

-

_______________

_______________

23,769

-

_______________

_______________
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16.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS – AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE - continued

iii.

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

661
1,479

-

_______________

_______________

Debt and other fixed income instruments

Government debt securities
Other debt securities

Fixed income instruments held with:
Other related companies

Listing Status:
- listed on Malta Stock Exchange
- listed elsewhere

2,140

-

_______________

_______________

1,479

-

_______________

_______________

1,479

-

_______________

_______________

661
1,479

-

_______________

_______________

2,140

-

_______________

_______________

15,127
(12,983)
(4)

-

_______________

_______________

Summary of movements during the year:
At the beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Redemptions
Movement in fair value
At the end of the year

iv.
Other non-fixed income instruments
Other debt securities

2,140

-

_______________

_______________

21,629

-

_______________

_______________

This amount represents an investment in Class A Notes issued by a related company.
Summary of movements during the year:
At the beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Disposals
At the end of the year

40,000
(18,371)

-

_______________

_______________

21,629

-

_______________

_______________

Financial assets with a carrying amount of EUR660,965 have been pledged in favour of the Depositors’
Compensation Scheme in terms of Legal Notice 109 of 2010 amending the Depositor Compensation
Scheme Regulations of 2003.
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17.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

Repayable on call and at short notice
Placements

Amounts include:
- Due from banks within Banif Group

18.

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

111,780
16,000

213,208
63,335

_______________

_______________

127,780

276,543

_______________

_______________

127,130

276,325

_______________

_______________

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

59,274
191,640

40,999
115,951

_______________

_______________

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Repayable on call and at short notice
Term loans and advances
Gross loans and advances to customers
(Less) allowance for impairment losses

250,914
(1,999)
_______________

Net loans and advances to customers
Allowances for impairment
- Individually assessed allowances
- Collectively assessed allowances

Gross amount of loans individually determined to be
impaired, before deducting the individually assessed
impairment allowance

156,950
(1,186)
_______________

248,915

155,764

_______________

_______________

826
1,173

459
727

_______________

_______________

1,999

1,186

_______________

_______________

8,173

3,854

_______________

_______________
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19.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land and
buildings
EUR’000
Cost :
At 1 January 2010
Additions
Disposal

4,939
(1)

Computer
equipment
EUR’000

Other
equipment
EUR’000

1,013
82
-

773
93
-

Total
EUR’000

6,725
175
(1)

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Additions
Disposal

4,938
1,067
-

1,095
141
-

866
230
-

6,899
1,438
-

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2011

6,005

1,236

1,096

8,337

___________________________________________________________________________________

Depreciation:
At 1 January 2010
Depreciation charge for the year

303
180

468
202

173
103

944
485

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Depreciation charge for the year

483
203

670
134

276
130

1,429
467

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2011

686

804

406

1,896

___________________________________________________________________________________

Net book value:
At 31 December 2011

5,319

432

690

6,441

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010

4,455

425

590

5,470

___________________________________________________________________________________

At 1 January 2010

4,636

545

600

5,781

___________________________________________________________________________________

Land and buildings include an amount of EUR2,061,695 (2010: EUR2,061,695) relating to the cost of
acquisition of properties to serve as branches for the Bank’s retail business activities. The fair value of the
land and building approximates the carrying amount.
In the figures reported above, there is included an amount of EUR24,802 (2010: EUR2,021) representing
cost of assets still not put to use as at year-end. Accordingly, no depreciation charge was taken on this
amount.
Future capital expenditure which was authorised by the Board but has to date not yet been contracted for
amounted to EUR3,168,973 (2010: EUR3,250,865). Additionally an amount of EUR295,804
(2010:EUR396,236) has been contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements (Note 33).
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20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost :
At 1 January 2010
Additions

Computer
software
EUR’000

Other
intangibles
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

504
306

109
-

613
306

_______________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Additions

810
308

109
24

919
332

_______________________________________________

At 31 December 2011

1,118

133

1,251

___________________________________________________________

Amortisation:
At 1 January 2010
Amortisation charge for the year

171
128

-

171
128

_______________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Amortisation charge for the year

299
212

12

299
224

_______________________________________________

At 31 December 2011

511

12

523

___________________________________________________________

Net book value:
At 31 December 2011

607

121

728

___________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010

511

109

620

___________________________________________________________

At 1 January 2010

333

109

442

___________________________________________________________

Computer software includes EUR199,231 (2010: EUR17,714) worth of assets which are not put to use.
The remaining average amortisation period is of 2 years.
Other intangibles includes an amount of EUR108,500 purchased in 2008 and which represents an asset
with an indefinite useful life. This relates to the amount paid to VISA to be able to form part of the VISA
network throughout the period during which debit and credit cards are offered to clients of the Bank. In
determining the useful life of this asset the following factors were taken into consideration:
i.

ii.
iii.

The expected usage of the asset by the Bank in that the useful life of this asset is entirely tied to
the intention of the Bank to indefinitely continue offering VISA debit and credit cards to its
customers;
The stability of the business area in which the asset operates and changes in the market demand
for the service offered through this asset; and
The period of control over the asset and legal or similar limits of the use of this asset.

This indefinite useful life assessment has been reviewed by the end of the reporting period and events and
circumstances still support this assessment.
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21.

DEFERRED TAX ASSET
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following:
2011
EUR’000
Deferred income tax asset/(liability) is attributable
to the following:
- excess of capital allowances over depreciation
- allowances for impairment
- unused tax losses

2010
EUR’000

(158)
700
4,919
________________

(111)
415
4,979
_______________

5,461

5,283

________________

_______________

Unused tax losses do not expire. Based on the Bank’s operating trends and forecasts, the deferred tax asset
is expected to be utilised from available taxable profits in the foreseeable future.

22.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
During the year, the Bank entered into a number of currency forward contracts with clients and an
equivalent number of back-to-back arrangements with Banif SA.
The forward contracts entered into are contractual agreements to buy or sell a currency at a specified rate
and date in the future. On the other hand, in the cross currency swaps entered into, the Bank carries out a
spot transaction paying a specified amount in one currency and receiving a specific amount in another
currency and agrees to do the inverse at a specified rate and date in the future.
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, together with their notional
amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference
rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional
amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are indicative of neither the
market risk nor the credit risk.

Derivatives held-for-trading
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Assets
2011
EUR’000

Liabilities
2011
EUR’000

Notional
amount
2011
EUR’000

106
2

34
-

5,994
9,792

_______________________________________________

108

34

15,786

_______________________________________________

Assets
2010
EUR’000

312
2

Liabilities
2010
EUR’000

Notional
amount
2010
EUR’000

79
137

11,205
720

__________________________________________

314

216

11,925

__________________________________________
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23.

PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

Prepayments
Other financial assets
Accrued income

Accrued income include:
- Due from Banif Group companies

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

472
1,435
1,626

456
537
775

________________

_______________

3,533

1,768

________________

_______________

490

398

________________

_______________

‘Other financial assets’ relate to amounts pledged in favour of VISA. These funds are in turn held by VISA
in the Deutsche Global Liquidity Managed Euro – Advisory fund. Income generated from this investment is
paid to the Bank on a monthly basis.

24.

AMOUNTS OWED TO BANKS

Term loans and advances
Repayable on demand

Amounts include:
Due to banks within Banif Group
Due to the Central Bank of Malta
against security on financial investments

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

181,426
92

6,000
-

________________

_______________

181,518

6,000

________________

_______________

153,518

6,000

25,700

-

________________

_______________

179,218

6,000

________________

_______________

The amount of Term loans and advances includes an amount of EUR25.7 million (2010: nil) owed to the
Central Bank of Malta secured by a pledge on securities (Note 15).

25.

AMOUNTS OWED TO CUSTOMERS

Term deposits
Repayable on demand

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

205,436
56,437

192,566
241,113

________________

_______________

261,873

433,679

________________

_______________

Included in ‘Amounts owed to customers’ were deposits of EUR9.837 million (2010: EUR6.282 million)
held as collateral for loan commitments and irrevocable commitments under guarantees and import letters
of credit.
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26.

OTHER LIABILITIES
2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

1,652
672
463

1,423
664
245

_______________

_______________

Bills payable
Accounts payable and sundry creditors
Obligations under financial guarantees

2,787

2,332

_______________

_______________

The movement in ‘Obligations under financial guarantees’ is as follows:
2011
EUR’000
At 1 January
Arising during the year
Utilised

245
520
(302)
_______________

At 31 December

27.

2010
EUR’000
59
236
(50)
_______________

463

245

_______________

_______________

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

2,149
589
74

1,551
380
71

_______________

_______________

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Accrued interest
Accrued operating expenditure (note i)
Accrued capital expenditure

Accrued interest includes:
- Due to parent and related companies

i.

2,812

2,002

_______________

_______________

81

1

_______________

_______________

Accrued operating expenditure mainly relates to amounts in relation to specific professional and
marketing services rendered and day-to-day services such as security and water and electricity.
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28.

ISSUED CAPITAL
2011
Shares of
EUR1 each
000s
42,500

Authorised
Ordinary shares
4% Cumulative convertible preference shares
at EUR1 each

Issued and fully paid up
At 1 January
4% Cumulative convertible preference shares
at EUR1 each
At 31 December

2011

EUR’000

2010
Shares of
EUR1 each
000s

EUR’000

42,500

50,000

50,000

7,500

7,500

-

___________

___________

___________

2010

___________

50,000

50,000

50,000

50,000

___________

___________

___________

___________

25,000

25,000

25,000

25,000

7,500

7,500

-

-

___________

___________

___________

___________

32,500

32,500

25,000

25,000

___________

___________

___________

___________

The issued ordinary shares rank pari passu for all purposes and, in the event that a poll is demanded, each
share entitles the holder thereof to one vote.
On 24 February 2011, the Bank issued EUR7.5 million convertible preference shares. These shares have a
nominal value of EUR1 per share and are convertible into ordinary shares only upon future fresh issues of
ordinary shares. One ordinary share shall be issued for each preference share to be converted. The majority
shareholder, Banif SGPS SA fully subscribed for these shares.

29.

RESERVES
Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent accumulated losses registered since the incorporation of the company. The
majority of these losses are attributable to costs incurred in the setting up of the banking operations.
Retained earnings include an amount of EUR1.017 million placed in the Depositor Compensation Scheme
Reserve. This Reserve is excluded for the purposes of the Own Funds calculation (Note 36).
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve is used to record movements in the fair value of available-for-sale equity shares
and debt securities, net of deferred taxation thereon. The revaluation reserve is not available for
distribution.

30.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There are no significant events after the reporting date.
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31.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows:

2011
EUR’000
Cash
Balances with Central Bank of Malta (excluding reserve deposit)
Loans and advances to banks
Amounts owed to banks

2,763
588
127,780
(142,251)
_______________

Cash and cash equivalents
Adjustment to reflect balances with
contractual maturity of more than three months

(11,120)
(34,848)
_______________

Per statement of financial position

(45,968)
_______________

Analysed as follows:
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
(excluding reserve deposit)
Loans and advances to banks
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Amounts owed to banks

4,632
127,779
3,139
(181,518)
_______________

(45,968)
_______________

2010
EUR’000
2,094
(435)
276,261
(6,000)
_______________

271,920
5,230
_______________

277,150
_______________

1,659
276,543
4,948
(6,000)
_______________

277,150
_______________
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32.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
During the course of its business, the Bank conducted business on commercial terms with various related
parties. No specific provisions for impairment were made in respect of amounts due by related parties
during the financial years ending 2011 and 2010 and no amounts were written off during both years.
The amount of related party transactions and outstanding balances and the percentage that such represent of
the respective balance sheet caption are disclosed in the tables below.
Related party
Related party
Related Statement
as a %
Related
Statement
as a %
party of financial of the total
party of financial of the total
balance
position
balance
balance
position
balance
2011
2011
2011
2010
2010
2010
EUR’000
EUR’000
% EUR’000
EUR’000
%
Statement of financial position
Assets
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial investments
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Other assets

18,509
23,109
127,130
7,926
74
432
-

41,403
23,769
127,780
248,915
108
3,533
24,846

45%
97%
99%
3%
69%
12%
0%

897
276,325
4,255
3
461
-

4,179
276,543
155,764
314
1,768
20,073

21%
0%
99%
3%
1%
26%
0%

___________________________________________________________________________________

Total assets

177,180

470,354

38%

281,941

458,641

61%

___________________________________________________________________________________

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

153,518
5,996
34
200

181,518
261,873
34
5,599

85%
2%
100%
4%

6,000
3,917
137
30

6,000
433,679
216
4,334

100%
1%
64%
1%

___________________________________________________________________________________

Total liabilities

159,748

449,024

36%

10,084

444,229

2%

___________________________________________________________________________________

Net assets

17,432
_________________

271,857
_________________

Related party balances are analysed as follows:
2011
EUR’000
Parent company
Related banks
Related companies
Entities controlled by non-executive directors
Shareholders
Directors

(16,645)
35,668
(373)
(28)
(1,190)
_______________

Net assets

2010
EUR’000
1,272
270,191
3,491
(863)
(1,097)
(1,137)
_______________

17,432

271,857

_______________

_______________
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32.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
Related party
Related party
Related
as a %
Related
as a %
party
Income of the total
party
Income of the total
transactions statement transactions
transactionsstatementtransactions
2011
2011
2011
2010
2010
2010
EUR’000
EUR’000
% EUR’000
EUR’000
%
Income statement
Interest receivable
Interest payable
Trading income
Other administrative expenses

1,710
941
1,080
329

11,606
5,996
1,932
3,690

15%
16%
56%
9%

1,687
94
438
297

6,760
3,449
1,009
4,182

25%
3%
43%
7%

The following table provides a detailed analysis of the total amount of transactions and balances, which
have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year:
2011

Related party

Related banks

Income
from
related
parties
EUR’000

Expenses
charged
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
to related
parties
EUR’000

10
1,497

-

127,130
342

-

-

738

-

153,518
81

-

-

3,497

-

-

-

18,509

-

1,070
-

-

23,109
74
-

34
5

-

2

-

28
-

-

135
167
27

-

-

154

-

204
-

-

4,029
20
70
-

-

47

-

9

-

400
-

Related companies

Shareholders

Entities controlled by
non-executive Directors

Directors

Type of
transactions

Trading income
Loan to banks
Interest receivable
Amounts owed
to banks
Interest payable
Loans and adv.
to customers
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Financial asset
available-for-sale
Trading income
Derivatives
Amounts owed to
customers
Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable

Professional fees
Rent
- Motor vehicle leases
Amounts owed
4,403
to customers
1
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
90 Operating expenses
Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable

1,560
28

____________________________________________________________

2,790

1,270

177,180

159,748

____________________________________________________________
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
2010

Related party

Related banks

Related company

Income
from
related
parties
EUR’000

Expenses
charged
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
to related
parties
EUR’000

1,639

-

276,325
366

-

-

39

-

6,000
-

-

-

897
3

137

-

-

8

-

-

-

3,500

-

438
-

-

-

9

8

7
-

-

1,241
4
-

-

-

148

-

133
138
26

-

-

10

-

38
-

-

583
9
78
-

-

38

-

2

-

24
-

Shareholders

Entities controlled by
non-executive Directors

Directors

Type of
transactions

Loan to banks
Interest receivable
Amounts owed
to banks
Interest payable
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Derivative asset
Interest receivable
from investment
with parent
Loans and adv.
to customers
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Trading income
Interest receivable
Amounts owed to
customers

Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Interest receivable
Loans and advances
to customers

Professional fees
Rent
- Motor vehicle leases
Amounts owed
1,523
to customers
2
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
8 Operating expenses
Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable

1,144
16

____________________________________________________________

2,125

391

281,941

10,084

____________________________________________________________

The Bank also issued demand and bank guarantees on behalf of entities controlled by non-executive
Directors amounting to EUR191,726 that were all fully secured (2010: EUR1,527,067).
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business. The interest charged
to and by related parties is at normal commercial rates.
Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank
During the year under review, the following banking transactions were carried out with key management
personnel.
Senior executive management
2011

Residential mortgages
Other personal lending

Customer deposits

Balance as at
31.12.11
EUR’000

Income
from key
management
EUR’000

621
60

13
1

Balance as at
31.12.11
EUR’000

Interest
paid to key
management
EUR’000

365

6

Balance as at
31.12.10
EUR’000

Income
from key
management
EUR’000

444
68

7
3

Balance as at
31.12.10
EUR’000

Interest
paid to key
management
EUR’000

113

1

2010

Residential mortgages
Other personal lending

Customer deposits

Directors’ remuneration and salaries to executive officers are separately disclosed in Note 9 to these
financial statements.
Terms and conditions of transactions with key management personnel
The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business on substantially the
same terms as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing, or where applicable, other
employees.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
Terms and conditions of transactions with key management personnel - continued
Immediate and ultimate parent
The immediate and ultimate parent of Banif Bank (Malta) plc is Banif SGPS, SA, a company registered in
Portugal, with its registered address at 30, Rua de Joao Tavira, 9004-509, Funchal, Madeira, Portugal.

33.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
As part of its business activities, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent
liabilities. Letters of credit, guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make
payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of
goods.
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may
expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements.
However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to
extend credit are contingent upon customers meeting specific conditions. The Bank monitors the term to
maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit
risk than shorter-term commitments.
Even though these obligations are not recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain
credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Bank.
The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees
Documentary credits

Commitments
Undrawn commitments to lend

Capital commitments (note 19)
Authorised but not contracted for
Contracted for

Total commitments

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

4,549
356

4,428
731

______________

______________

4,905

5,159

______________

______________

63,595

59,607

______________

______________

3,169
296

3,251
396

______________

______________

3,465

3,647

______________

______________

67,060

63,254

______________

______________
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS - continued
Operating lease commitments - Bank as lessee
In 2011, the Bank did not enter into any new contracts of commercial lease for immovable property.
Details of all the other contracts entered into to date are as follows:
i.

10 year commercial lease for immovable property which is cancellable by giving one year’s notice
(starting 2008);
ii. 20-year term contract which is cancellable after the first 10 years of the contract by giving one year’s
notice (starting 2008);
iii. 5-year term contract with the option to terminate upon the expiry of the first three years (starting 2008).
iv. 15-year term contract, with the right to terminate the lease after 5 years to be used for retail purposes
(starting 2010); and
v. 6-year term contract to be used as an extension to the current Head Office premises.
Prior to this, in 2007, the Bank also entered into a commercial lease for software licenses. This lease has
been terminated in 2010 and replaced by an arrangement to start acquiring additional licences that will
become necessary in batches of 20. Furthermore, under the new arrangement all licences leased up to end
of 2010 are converted into acquired leases. Existing and new licences are supported by an annual
maintenance contract.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
After more than five years

2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

242
1,054
427

254
979
769

______________

______________

1,723

2,002

______________

______________

Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Bank has
an established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and
the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse
effects which the claims may have on its financial standing. At year end, there were no significant
unresolved legal claims.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management
The Bank’s main activities are subject to a combination of financial risks which are inherent in the business
of banking. Financial risks are managed by the Bank within statutory limits and within internal parameters
established by the Board of Directors.
Fair values
The reporting of fair values is intended to guide users as to the amount, timing and certainty of cash flows.
The amounts stated for cash balances, balances with the Central Bank of Malta and loans and advances to
banks are highly liquid assets. The Directors regard the amount shown in the statement of financial
position for these items as reflecting their fair value in that these assets will be realised for cash in the
immediate future.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments and financial assets held for trading are detailed in Note
35.
Amounts owed to customers are entirely deposit liabilities, with short maturities. Their carrying amounts at
the reporting date are therefore approximating their fair value.
Loans and advances to customers are reported net of allowances to reflect their estimated recoverable
amounts which are not deemed to defer materially from their fair value. The carrying value approximates
the fair value in case of loans which are repriceable at the Bank’s discretion.
The amounts for contingent liabilities and commitments fairly reflect the cash outflows that are expected to
arise upon their occurrence.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables such as prices and interest rates, the correlations between them and their levels
of volatility.
Market risk comprises three types of risks, namely:
-

-

Interest rate risk: results from fluctuations in the future cash flows of fiancial assets and liabilities and
fair value of financial instruments due to interest rate repricing gaps, changes in the yield curves and
volatilities in the market interest rates,
Credit spread risk: results from exposures to changes in credit quality of a counterparty or an issuer of
debt, essentially bonds and;
Foreign currency exchange rate risk: results from exposure to changes in prices, spot or forwards, and
volatility of currency rates.

Management of market risk
The primary objective of market risk management is to ensure that the risk-reward relationship entrenched
in managing the Bank’s resources is optimised in a manner that it does not expose the Bank to losses over
and above its risk appetite. To achieve this objective, the Bank establishes limits and controls positions
rigorously. The Bank carries out accurate and regular assessments of how the outcome of multiple risk
metrics impacts results.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Financial risk management - continued
Market risk - continued
Management of market risk - continued
The Bank´s market risk appetite is defined by the Board of Directors and implemented by the Treasury
Department, which coordinates the setup of risk limits and controls the Bank´s market exposures in the
financial markets. The exposures and limits are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management in the
Executive Committee and in the ALCO (Asset & Liability Committee).
Risk measurement techniques
A variety of risk measurement techniques are used to estimate potential future losses derived from its
exposures, both in the short and long term. The risk measurement techniques used for short-term periods
essentially include the Value-at-Risk VaR approach and sensitivity analysis. For the longer-term, the
primary risk measure used is the Stress Test which intends to quantify negative impacts under multiple
scenarios and simultaneous variations.
VaR - Value-at-Risk
On a day-to-day basis, the value-at-risk approach is used to measure potential future losses in its exposures
to market risk.
VaR measures the potential future loss in market value of a given portfolio under normal market conditions
using a defined confidence levels over a defined period. The value-at-risk for a total portfolio represents a
measure of diversified market risk, aggregated, using pre-determined correlations in that portfolio.
Stress tests
The Bank uses Stress Tests to quantify potential future losses that may arise from a combination of multiple
factors that may have an affect on the Bank’s exposure to market risks. The Stress Test model analyses the
risk-reward relationship and takes into consideration the potential actions to be carried out by the Bank to
mitigate its market risk exposures.
Although the Bank considers VaR to be an important measure of risk, it also recognises that it has
limitations in so far as it dependends on historical data, purports to estimate risk up to a defined confidence
level and assumed good asset liquidity, and reflects possible losses under relatively normal market
conditions. On the contrary, the Stress Test model helps the Bank to determine the effects of potentially
extreme market developments on the value of the Bank´s market risk sensitive exposures, both on highly
liquid and less liquid assets and market positions.
The correlations between market risk factors employed by the Bank´s current Stress Tests are estimated
from historical volatile market conditions and the resultant estimated correlations proved to be consistent
with those observed during recent periods of market stress. The test scenarios are defined and conducted,
on a regular basis and reported on a timely basis, to Senior Management.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s financial position and cash flow to adverse
movements in foreign exchange rates.
The Directors set limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored daily, and
hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within established limits.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Financial risk management - continued
Currency risk - continued
During the year under review, the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities were mainly held in Euro, United
States Dollar and Great Britain Pound as indicated below. The Bank did not have any significant exposure
to currency risk at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

Euro
United States Dollar
Great Britain Pound
Other

Assets
EUR’000

2011
Liabilities
EUR’000

Assets
EUR’000

2010
Liabilities
EUR’000

449,452
18,098
2,570
234

434,380
8,198
5,701
745

199,901
256,218
202
2,320

180,470
259,700
1,768
2,291

_______________________________

470,354

449,024

_______________________________

____________________________

458,641

444,229

___________________________

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises in the Bank’s operations due to interest rate fluctuations resulting from interest
earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, which mature or are repriced at different times or in different
amounts. Floating rate assets and liabilities are also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference in
repricing characteristics of the various floating rate indices.
The Bank adopts a policy to match the currency and maturity of individual transactions through treasury
operations to minimise the risk of adverse fluctuations in interest rates or exchange rates affecting financial
assets and financial liabilities.
The table below analyses interest-bearing assets and liabilities between those that have a fixed rate and a
variable rate:

Assets
Financial Investments – held for trading
Financial Investments – available for sale
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

Fixed
EUR’000

2011
Variable
EUR’000

Fixed
EUR’000

2010
Variable
EUR’000

29,203
2,140
16,000
-

12,200
21,629
3,139
111,780
250,914

255,616
-

4,948
20,927
156,950

_______________________________

47,343

399,662

_______________________________

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers

181,427
205,436

91
56,437

_______________________________

386,863

56,528

_______________________________

____________________________

255,616

182,825

___________________________

6,000
192,566

241,113

____________________________

198,566

241,113

___________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Financial risk management - continued
Interest rate risk - continued
Sensitivity analysis - effect on profit before tax
The table below indicates the sensitivity of the loss before tax to a reasonable possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant.
The sensitivity of the loss before tax is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net
interest and trading income for one year, based on the floating rate of trading and non-trading financial
assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2011.
2011

Assets repriced
Liabilities repriced

2010

Assets repriced
Liabilities repriced

Change in
Sensitivity
basis points of net interest
income
EUR’000

Sensitivity
of trading
income
EUR’000

+100/-100 3,350/(3,350)
+100/-100 (2,452)/2,452

73/(73)
-

__________________

_________________

898/(898)

73/(73)

__________________

_________________

Change in
Sensitivity
basis points of net interest
income
EUR’000

Sensitivity
of trading
income
EUR’000

+100/-100 3,643/(3,643)
+100/-100 (3,097)/3,097

8/(8)
-

_________________

_____________

546/(546)

8/(8)

_________________

_____________

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to fulfil the terms of his obligations when due. The
Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for
individual counterparties and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such
limits.
In view of the nature of its business, the Bank’s financial assets are inherently and predominately subject to
credit risk. Thus, management has put in place internal control systems to evaluate, approve and monitor
credit risks relating to both investments and loan portfolios.
The Bank also rigorously applies a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible
changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Financial risk management - continued
Credit risk - continued
With respect to credit risk arising for the components of the Statement of financial position, which
comprise amounts due from banks, loans and advances to customers, prepayments and accrued income and
commitments, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement of
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use
of master netting and collateral agreements.

Notes
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
(excluding cash at hand)
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial investments
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets

14
15
16
17
18

Total
Contingent liabilities
Undrawn commitments to lend
Total
Total credit risk exposure

33
33

Gross maximum
exposure
2011
EUR’000

Gross maximum
exposure
2010
EUR’000

5,008
41,403
23,769
127,780
248,915
7,978

4,513
4,179
276,543
155,764
3,861

_____________

_____________

454,853

444,860

_____________

_____________

4,905
63,595

5,159
59,607

_____________

_____________

68,500

64,766

_____________

_____________

523,353

509,626

_____________

_____________

65

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentration risk is the risk that one particular exposure or group of exposures leads to significant losses
as a result of an inadequate diversification of the credit exposures. This risk is managed by setting levels
on risk concentration indices calculated for each of the following risk drivers.

•
•
•
•
•

Industry sector
Client/counterparty
Collateral
Currency
Product

Each index is organised into five levels of concentration with the maximum level having a coefficient of
0.05 and the minimum level having a coefficient of 1. Management is informed on a regular basis on the
calculated risk concentrations and actions to re
redress
dress high coeffecients are taken as deemed necessary.
This calculation then provides the basis for allocating economic capital as per Banking Rule BR/12.

Business segment concentration
The Bank is mainly exposed to three main business segments with
with home loans representing 44% of the
total loan portfolio as at end of 2011.

Corporate lending

Home loans

Consumer credit

17%
39%

44%

The Bank exercises tight monitoring on the performance of the home loan portfolio. It has a specific home
loan credit policy laying down parameters to guide the manner in which
which these loans are granted with a view
to ensure that the lending is of high quality. The policy also provides detailed guidance on the monitoring
that is done on a regular basis once credit is granted.

66

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk - continued
Business segment concentration - continued
Whilst the bulk of the collateral is composed of hypothecary charges over property as illustarted in the chart
below, the Bank applies a particularly prudent approach towards valuation of same. In this respect, in all
cases, an independent Bank’s architect’s valuation is procured at inception and updated on an ongoing basis
in line with regulatory norms (Banking Rule BR/04). The independent architect’s valuation is applied to all
lending covered by hypothecary charges over property, and for all exposure amounts, even in respect of home
loan facilities of relatively smaller values.
The risk emanating form the high home loan concentration reported above is well mitigated by the following:
i.

ii.

iii.
iv.

sound credit approval process where lending (including home loans) must be approved by credit
committees composed of three officials one of whom represents the risk management function,
having no quantitative personal targets;
very low single-name risk - the home loan sub-portfolio is spread out over a wide customer base
resulting in granularity such that no single customer (or group of connected home loan customers)
comprises any significant proportion of such sub-portfolio;
home loans are characterised by very low default rates historically in Malta and this is very well
replicated in the Bank where the average home loan default rate at end of 2011 stood at 0.31% and;
the invariable independent architect’s valuation (as reported above).

Client / counterparty concentration
The maximum on-balance sheet credit exposure to any client, group of connected clients or counterparty as at
31 December amounted to EUR4.995 million (2010: EUR3.500 million) before taking account of collateral
or other credit enhancements and no value exposure when considering it net of such protection.
In terms of Banking Rule BR/02, every credit institution and banking group is required to report all exposures
exceeding 10% of own funds on a quarterly basis to MFSA. The total amount of exposures which exceeded
10% of own funds represented 26.6% of the total loan portfolio as at end of 2011 (2010: 37.3%). These
exposures are strictly monitored by management and as evidenced during 2011, every reasonable step is
taken to reduce this concentration and spread risk over a wider customer base with further growth in the loan
portfolio.
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Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk - continued
Sector concentration
An industry sector analysis of the Bank’s financial assets including commitments, before and after taking
into account collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Agriculture
Fishing
Manufacturing
Electricity
Water supply; sewerage waste management and
remediation activities
Construction
Wholesale and retail trade
Transport, storage and communication
Hotels and restaurants, excluding related
construction activities
Information and communication
Financial services
Real estate, renting and business activities
Professional, scientific and technical activities
Administrative and support service activities
Public administration
Education
Health and social work
Arts, entertainment and recreation
Other Services activities
Households and individuals
Other

Gross
maximum
exposure
2011
EUR’000

Net
maximum
exposure
2011
EUR’000

Gross
maximum
exposure
2010
EUR’000

Net
maximum
exposure
2010
EUR’000

861
1,894
11,192
4,190

521
1,058
4,025
3,745

597
1,700
4,666
1,593

137
903
1,757
1,405

598
40,165
24,662
9,617

288
10,758
8,748
6,151

134
29,731
14,658
8,082

13,543
4,882
3,591

2,807
6,853
203,195
10,496
2,005
3,998
1,284
392
1,495
5,941
81
191,327
299

1,768
4,438
201,789
4,794
1,319
1,604
1,283
327
1,339
442
51
55,170
297

581
7,322
294,104
13,034
1,389
3,089
4
414
463
2,423
462
124,284
896

386
5,252
288,686
2,798
1,046
2,133
4
414
3
736
449
43,746
898

_______________________________

523,352

309,915

_______________________________

______________________________

509,626

372,769

______________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability
acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

•
•

For corporate lending, charges over real estate properties, cash or securities,
For retail lending (including home loans and consumer credit), mortgages
mortgages over residential properties,
cash or securities.

As illustrated below, mortgages over residential properties represented 56% of the total loan portfolio as at
end of 2011.

Cash or quasi cash

Secured by commercial property

Secured by residential property

Other security

Unsecured
16%

4%
23%

1%

56%

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the
adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.
It is the Bank's policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to
reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed properties for
business use.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The table below
shows the credit quality by class of asset for loan-related financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on
the Bank's credit rating system.

Neither past due nor impaired
_______________________________________________

Notes

Sub- Past due or
Standard individually
Grade
impaired
EUR’000
EUR’000

High
Grade
EUR’000

Standard
Grade
EUR’000

693
22,290
-

40,710
1,479
127,780
4,323

-

-

41,403
23,769
127,780
4,323

87,598
13,174
106,057
32,254

2,912
82
201
196

135
41
46

6,220
16
547
1,435

96,865
13,313
106,805
33,931

Total
EUR’000

At 31 December 2011
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial assets available-for-sale
Loans and advances to banks
Cheques in course of collection

15
16
17

Loans and advances to customers
Small business, corporate and
Government lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

18

__________________________________________________________________________________

Sub-total

239,083

3,391

222

8,218

250,914

__________________________________________________________________________________

Total

262,066

177,683

222

8,218

448,189

__________________________________________________________________________________
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Credit quality per class of financial assets - continued
Neither past due nor impaired
_______________________________________________

Notes

Sub- Past due or
Standard individually
Grade
impaired
EUR’000
EUR’000

High
Grade
EUR’000

Standard
Grade
EUR’000

491
1,737

3,688
276,543
-

-

-

4,179
276,543
1,737

60,270
12,253
63,951
15,440

492
2
307
-

9
1
-

3,363
108
394
360

64,134
12,364
64,652
15,800

Total
EUR’000

At 31 December 2010
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Cheques in course of collection

15
17

Loans and advances to customers
Small business and
corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

18

______________________________________________________________________________________

Sub-total

151,914

801

10

4,225

156,950

______________________________________________________________________________________

Total

154,142

281,032

10

4,225

439,409

______________________________________________________________________________________

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired per class of financial asset

Less than
30 days
EUR’000

From
31 to 60
days
EUR’000

From
61 to 90
days
EUR’000

Over 90
days
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

2,801
7
11
207

3
1
1

3
1

2,407
11
383
106

5,211
22
394
315

At 31 December 2011
Loans and advances to customers
Small business, corporate and
and Government lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

______________________________________________________________________________________

3,026

5

4

2,907

5,942

______________________________________________________________________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Credit quality per class of financial assets - continued

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired per class of financial asset - continued
From
Less than
30 days
EUR’000

From
31 to 60
days
EUR’000

61 to 90
days
EUR’000

Over 90
days
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

178
114
14
67

118
2
-

2
1
-

2,917
65
227
38

3,215
182
241
105

At 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Small business and
corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

______________________________________________________________________________________

373

120

3

3,247

3,743

______________________________________________________________________________________

Ageing analysis of fair value of the collateral on past due but not impaired loans
The table below analyses the fair value of the collateral amount of loans and advances to customers which
was past due but not impaired.

Less than
30 days
EUR’000

From
31 to 60
days
EUR’000

From
61 to 90
days
EUR’000

Over 90
days
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

324
5
21
52

1
-

-

4,704
542
5

5,029
5
563
57

At 31 December 2011
Loans and advances to customers
Small business, corporate
and government lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

______________________________________________________________________________________

402

1

-

5,251

5,654

______________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Small business and
corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

3,060
135
-

-

-

5,166
597
4

8,226
135
597
4

______________________________________________________________________________________

3,195

-

-

5,767

8,962

______________________________________________________________________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Collateral repossessed
During the year, the Bank took possession of two term deposits pledged in favour of the Bank with a
carrying value of EUR50,058 (2010: EUR2,359).
Renegotiated credit
The Bank renegotiated credit amounting to EUR4,505,396 during 2011 (2010: EUR885,785).
Impairment assessment
Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances that are not individually significant
(including credit cards, residential mortgages and unsecured consumer lending) and for individually
significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of individual impairment.
Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portfolio receiving a separate review.
The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even
though there is not yet objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses
are estimated by taking into consideration the following information: probabilities of default based on
credit ratings determined through an internal rating system, historical losses on the portfolio, current
economic conditions, the approximate delay between the time a loss is likely to have been incurred and the
time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected receipts
and recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this period
which can extend for as long as one year. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit
management to ensure alignment with the Bank's overall policy.
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.
Internal ratings
The Bank applies a 12-step internal rating system (IRS) which encapsulates the risk profile associated with
each and every lending relationship on its banking book.
The IRS comprises 12 credit rating levels which constitute a continuum of progressively increasing risk
profile ranging from A1 (best rating, least risky) to E (loss, worst case representing full risk
materialisation). The rating of every lending relationship (including groups of connected customers), is an
important tool that helps management to identify both nonperforming exposures and the better-performing
borrowing customers.
In the case of non-performing exposures, the system serves as a trigger for prompt corrective action to be
taken whereas in the case better-performing exposures, the Bank is empowered to segment the premium
customers and tailor a higher-quality banking experience. In both cases, the timely identification and
taking of action based on the characteristics of the relationship, is mutually beneficial to both Bank and
customer.
The 12 internal rating levels are mapped to the MFSA’s 5-step credit grading system contained in Banking
Rule BR/09/2008.01, Paragraph 21. viz.: Regular, Watch, Substandard, Doubtful, Loss.
Besides the Days’ Delinquency (which is an overriding criterion), other risk factors are ingrained in the
assignment of the credit rating for the borrowing customer. These include inter alia overall macroeconomic
conditions, specific market segment in which customer operates, knowledge of customer including track
record, trading and financial performance, and the level of collateral (if any).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Internal ratings - continued
Any lending relationship exhibiting any form of default, is reported by exception in Delinquent Reports
generated and monitored on a daily basis by the Bank Unit where the relationship is domiciled. At the end
of each calendar month, a Non-performing Exposures Report is generated where any nonperforming
exposures still not regularised during the course of the month, are reported. This is subjected to high-level
scrutiny by top Commercial Management Department, Credit Recoveries Office and Global Risk
Department officials who inter alia reconsider the internal rating for possible action (maintain, downgrade
or upgrade). The recommendations made by such officials are then agreed with an Executive Committee
member leading to monthly internal rating revisions of nonperforming customers.
In respect of the performing lending relationships, by default, reviews are conducted on a six-monthly basis
except where the relationship is objectively analysed to constitute such a favourable risk profile, that a
yearly review exercise is deemed to suffice. For the yearly-review exception to apply, written authority by
way of specific credit committee decision is required.
Full reviews of non-performing relationships (apart from the monthly exercise mentioned above), are
conducted on more frequent intervals often quarterly but even on an ad hoc basis when it is felt appropriate.
All credit requests including reviews of existing borrowing customers must be authorized by a threemember Credit Committee at appropriate discretionary levels as defined in the Bank’s Credit Policies. At
each Credit Committee and at all levels, one member represents the risk management function. This official
cannot be substituted by another official from a business unit and cannot be assigned any credit portfolio
growth targets (in order to maintain his/her objectivity). All Credit Committee members are free to raise a
divergence of opinion, stating reasons. Unless a consensual Credit Committee decision is reached, the
credit decision must be taken by a higher-level credit committee within the lending hierarchy as defined in
the Credit Policies.
Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating
The credit grading classes adopted in terms of the Credit Policy are mapped to the Standard & Poor’s
Credit Rating definitions. The S&P’s ratings are converted into probability of defaults which are used in the
calculation of the collective allowance for impairment of financial assets.
The table below indicates the level of exposures of the loan-related statement of financial position items
(before taking into account collateral) in each risk rating class.

2011
High Grade
Risk rating class A1
Risk rating class A2
Risk rating class A3
Standard
Risk rating class B
Past Due or Individually Impaired
Risk rating class C

S&P’s
equivalent
grades

Average
unsecured
share of
exposure
%

Total
EUR’000

AAA
AA- to AA+
A- to A+

93.74
24.08
14.06

557
56,754
181,776

BBB+ to B+

20.66

3,703

B- and below

13.18

8,124
___________

250,914
___________
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Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating - continued

2010
High Grade
Risk rating class A1
Risk rating class A2
Risk rating class A3
Standard
Risk rating class B
Past Due or Individually Impaired
Risk rating class C

S&P’s
equivalent
grades

Average
unsecured
share of
exposure
%

Total
EUR’000

AAA
AA- to AA+
A- to A+

100.00
15.94
14.58

667
29,952
121,295

BBB+ to B+

15.92

811

B- and below

25.59

4,225
___________

156,950
___________

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s mismatches in its portfolio of assets, liabilities and
commitments. The Bank continuously monitors liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in
funding required to meet liquidity requirements. Its policy to match currency exposures and maturity
positions almost entirely results in few or no open risk positions.
The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to
stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Bank. From a regulatory point
of view, the Bank adheres to Banking Rule BR/05, which stipulates that every credit institution is required
to maintain a minimum liquid-asset proportion of 30% of the total deposit liabilities net of deductions. As
at end of December 2011, the Bank’s proportion of liquid-assets to short-term liabilities as reduced stood
at 49.63% (2010: 63.70%).
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2011
and 31 December 2010 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligation.
Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However,
the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Bank could be
required to pay. The table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank's deposit
retention history.
Less
than three
months
EUR’000

Between
three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

92
96,883
12
4,311

62,657
22
603

52,421
205

181,717
63,223
480

Others
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

Financial liabilities
At 31 December 2011
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

-

181,809
275,184
34
5,599

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total undiscounted liabilities 2011

101,298

63,282

52,626

245,420

-

462,626

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating - continued

Liquidity risk - continued

At 31 December 2010
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

Less
than three
months
EUR’000

Between
three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

6,004
320,024
167
3,734

72,914
35
339

11,088
15
67

35,911
183

Others
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

11

6,004
439,937
217
4,334

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total undiscounted liabilities 2010

329,929

73,288

11,170

36,094

11

450,490

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s commitments.

At 31 December 2011
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Guarantees
Documentary credits

Not later than
1 year
EUR’000

1 - 5 years
EUR’000

Over 5 years
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

3,465
59,417
4,549
356

4,178
-

-

3,465
63,595
4,549
356

____________________________________________________________________________________

Total

67,787

4,178

-

71,965

____________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2010
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Guarantees
Documentary credits

3,647
59,607
4,428
731

-

-

3,647
59,607
4,428
731

____________________________________________________________________________________

Total

68,413

-

-

68,413

____________________________________________________________________________________
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Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating - continued

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected
to be recovered or settled.

At 31 December 2011
Assets
Balances with the Central Bank and
cash
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial assets available-for-sale
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

Less than
three
months
EUR’000

Between
three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

7,771
4,323
12,470
127,780
46,864
33
3,129
122

18,796
12,359
74
369
-

439
1,479
16,773
1
-

9,698
22,290
172,919
35
-

Others
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

6,441
728
5,461
-

7,771
4,323
41,403
23,769
127,780
248,915
6,441
728
108
3,533
5,461
122

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total

202,492

31,598

18,692

204,942

12,630

470,354

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

181,518
95,227
12
2,787
1,524

58,203
22
603

48,749
205

59,694
480

-

181,518
261,873
34
2,787
2,812

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total

281,068

58,828

48,954

60,174

-

449,024

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating - continued

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities - continued

At 31 December 2010
Assets
Balances with the Central Bank and
cash
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

Between
less than
three
months
EUR’000

three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

6,607
1,737
276,262
30,976
41
1,755
45

897
281
9,658
130
13
-

12,617
143
-

3,282
102,513
-

Others
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

5,470
620
5,283
311

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total

317,423

10,979

12,760

105,795

11,684

458,641

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

6,000
352,056
166
2,321
1,413

45,260
35
339

6,419
15
67

29,944
183

11
-

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total

361,956

45,634

6,501

30,127

11

444,229

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events
(including legal risk). When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation,
have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all
operational risks, but through control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the
Bank is able to manage and mitigate the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access,
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of
internal audit.
The Bank has adopted the Banif Group’s Operational Risk Management Framework (BORMF). Each
internal Bank entity is directly involved in the management of operational risk to the extent that an
Operational Risk Manager must be appointed by each entity. Global Risk Management Department (GRD)
is responsible for the coordination of all operational risk activities within the Bank as well as their control
and oversight.
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Operational risk - continued
In terms of BORMF, every effort is made to ensure that operational risks are curtailed, minimised and/or
mitigated to inhibit, or at least significantly reduce, the incidence of operational risks materialising into
operational losses. The Framework comprises:
i.

ii.
iii.

iv.

v.

vi.
vii.

Risk identification. Relevant operational risks are identified through various execution tools. The
latter include detailed questionnaires, ongoing reporting of operational risk events, near misses and
losses. At internal-entity level, each entity’s operational risk manager must gather, filter and report
the data to GRD in a standardised format.
Operational Risk reporting threshold. Any operational risk event equating to, or exceeding the sum
of EUR50, must be reported. The quantum used reflects a bias towards prudence over practicality.
Operational Loss Database. The aforementioned reporting provides the basis for the compilation of
an operational loss database. Regular updating of the database with newly emerging internal losses
and/or near misses keeps it up-to-date and enriches it over time.
Operational risk measurement. Key result indictors (KRIs) are identified and losses are quantified.
This leads to the formulation of an Enterprise Risk Management matrix which is used to determine
key operational risks, their impact and likely severity.
Operational risk assessment. The operational risk events are evaluated. Interactions with the
internal stakeholders involved are held. Proposals are formulated for action intended to eliminate,
reduce, and/or mitigate the impact and likelihood of recurrence. Decisions are then taken at the
appropriate level.
Monitoring and controlling. This is an ongoing process involving, inter alia, the reviewing of KRIs,
loss and near-miss levels, and self-assessment procedures in place.
Reporting. This involves the disclosure of losses and indicators of operational risks. A specific
software application is used to ensure a methodical approach which generates consistent and
standardised reporting.

A major plank in the Bank’s efforts to properly manage and control operational risk, is the Business
Continuity Plan (BCP) which is formalised and in place and covers the whole organisation.
The Bank presently applies the Basic Indicator Approach under Pillar 1 of the Internal Convergence of
Capital Measurement & Capital Standards (Basel II Accord) in order to calculate the capital charge.
Accordingly, as set out in the yearly ICAAP reviews submitted to MFSA, the Bank allocates 15% of
average of gross income over the last three years as regulatory capital in respect of operational risk.

35.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data.
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The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy:
Level 1
Level 2
EUR’000 EUR’000

Level 3
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

At 31 December 2011
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

-

106
2

-

106
2

__________________________________________________________________

Sub-total

-

108

-

108

__________________________________________________________________

Other financial assets held-for-trading
Fixed income instruments
Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities

-

599
23,804
5,030

-

599
23,804
5,030

Non-fixed income instruments
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities

-

3,185
3,785

5,000

3,185
8,785

__________________________________________________________________

Sub-total

-

36,403

5,000

41,403

__________________________________________________________________

Other financial assets available for sale
Fixed income instruments
Government debt securities
Other corporate debt securities

-

661
-

1,479

661
1,479

Non-fixed income instruments
Other corporate debt securities

-

-

21,629

21,629

__________________________________________________________________

Sub-total

-

611

23,108

23,769

__________________________________________________________________

Total

-

37,172

28,108

65,280

__________________________________________________________________

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange

-

34

-

34

__________________________________________________________________

Total

-

34

-

34

__________________________________________________________________

Financial assets whose fair value has been determined using level 3 valuation technique consist of
instruments valued at par on the basis of the price willing to be paid by the issuer of the instrument.
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Level 1
Level 2
EUR’000 EUR’000
At 31 December 2010
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

-

312
2

Level 3
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

-

312
2

____________________________________________________________

Sub-total

-

314

-

314

____________________________________________________________

Other financial assets held-for-trading
Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities

-

1,616
2,563

-

1,616
2,563

____________________________________________________________

Sub-total

-

4,179

-

4,179

____________________________________________________________

Total

-

4,493

-

4,493

____________________________________________________________

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

-

79
137

-

79
137

____________________________________________________________

Total

-

216

-

216

__________________________________________________________________

The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are
recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Bank’s estimate of assumptions
that a market participant would make when valuing the instruments.

Derivatives
Derivative products valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are mainly, currency
swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include
forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs
including the foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves.

Other trading assets
Other trading assets valued using a valuation technique consists of certain debt securities. The Bank values
the securities using valuation models which use discounted cash flow analysis which incorporates either
only observable data or both observable and non-observable data. Observable inputs include assumptions
regarding current rates of interest and real estate prices; unobservable inputs include assumptions regarding
future default rates, prepayment rates and market liquidity discounts.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
It is the Bank’s policy to actively manage its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and at the
same time to support the development of the business, to maximise shareholders’ value and to meet all the
regulatory requirements. Capital management policy is monitored by the Assets and Liabilities Committee
(ALCO).
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities.
The Bank’s capital base is classified in accordance with Bankig Rule BR/03 imposing own funds
requirements for credit institutions and banking groups. It is made up of the following components:
i.

ii.

Original own funds - comprising the following:
a.

Ordinary share capital – the ordinary issued share capital is made up of 25 million Ordinary
Shares of EUR1 each. These shares rank pari passu for all purposes and, in the event that a
poll is deemed necessary, each share will entitle the holder thereof to one vote.

b.

Retained earnings – this reserves holds profits net of accumulated losses. Such profits, when
available, are distributed in accordance with the provisions of the Bank’s dividend policy.

c.

Depositor Compensation Scheme Reserve – the amount appropriated to this reserve is
excluded from original own funds.

d.

Intangible assets – the net book value of intangible assets which mainly comprise computer
software (Note 20) is deducted from original own funds.

e.

Unrealised fair value adjustments- it is the Bank’s policy that unrealised fair value
adjustments are deducted from original own funds and included with additional own funds.

Additional own funds - comprising the following:
a.

Preference share capital – the preference share capital is made up of 7.5 million 4%
Cumulative Convertible Preference Shares of EUR1 each. These shares shall be converted
into Ordinary Shares only upon future fresh issues of Ordinary Shares, provided that
following a conversion, the percentage equity that each of the current subscriber of ordinary
shares holds, remains unchanged. Any preference shares remaining unconverted, will be
converted in the next fresh issue of Ordinary Shares. The percentage of equity which each
subscriber holds in Banif Bank (Malta) plc shall in all cases be maintained.

b.

Collective impairment allowances – this includes the provisions made in the profit and loss
account to take account of impairment that is likely to be present in the loan portfolio even
though there is not yet objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment
(Note 18).
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - continued

Externally imposed capital requirements
The Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA) requires each bank and banking group, to maintain a
minimum ratios, taking into account both balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet transactions as
follows:
i.
ii.

Total own funds to risk-weighted assets of 8%, and
Original own funds to risk-weighted assets of 4%.

During 2011, the MFSA introduced a number of amendments relating to the strengthening of capital
requirements and disclosure for the trading book and for re-securitisation instruments in the banking sector
together with measures aimed at ensuring that remuneration policies in the banking sector do not generate
unacceptable levels of risk. This was mainly done through the transposition into the local rules of
2010/76/EU (CRD III).
Furthermore, other amendments were required to various Banking Rules due to EU Directive 2010/78/EC
(known as OMNIBUS Directive) which amends Directive 2006/48/EC in respect of the powers of the
European Banking Authority.
The Banking Rules aim to align the institutions’ risk profile and their risk management systems to their
capital. The Bank’s risk and capital management policy take this into consideration. The rules are
structured on the Basel framework that is based on three Pillars of regulation.
Pillar 1 capital requirements are based on standard rules and set the minimum own funds requirements to
cover credit risk, market risk and operational risk of the credit institution. The Bank uses the Standardised
Approach for credit risk and the Basic Indicator Approach for operational risk. As far as market risk is
concerned the Bank allocates capital to the trading book risk-weighted assets entirely derived from foreign
exchange risk.
Pillar 2 involves an assessment of the additional capital that is required to mitigate those risks that are not
adequately covered by Pillar 1. This is a two-tier process that involves the internal assessment that needs to
be carried out by the institution and the review process that has to be carried out by the Regulator.
In terms of Banking Rule BR/12, during the year, the Bank has set up a specific department, named Global
Risk Department to continue implementing the necessary structures to allocate capital to cover Pillar II
risks and ensure constant monitoring of the risks undertaken by the Bank.
This department is also responsible to steer and direct the work carried out by the ICAAP Working Group
composed of members from Treasury, Finance and Reporting and Control and Compliance Departments.
This Working Group reports to the Asset and Liability Committee (the “ALCO”). The Working Group
meets on a regular basis to monitor the adequacy of the Bank’s capital, assists ALCO members in devising
strategies to make efficient use of capital and assists in devising the level and structure of capital required.
Pillar 3 covers the quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements that an institution has to abide with
to ensure transparency about its conduction of business activities. This is addressed by MFSA Banking
Rule BR/07. In terms of BR/07, the Bank is a ‘significant local subsidiary’ of Banif SGPS SA which is an
entity registered in Portugal and is therefore exempted from full risk disclosure requirements under Pillar
3.
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The table below reconciles the risk weighted assets to the positions reported in the statement of financial
position.

On-balance sheet assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Financial investments – available for sale
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers (gross)
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Other assets
Prepayments and accrued income

Face
value
EUR’000

2011
Weighted
amount
EUR’000

Face
value
EUR’000

2010
Weighted
amount
EUR’000

7,771
4,323
41,403
23,769
127,780
250,914
6,441
728
108
5,583
3,533

865
32,861
1,479
8,695
146,771
6,441
728
106
5,583
3,533

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
156,950
5,470
620
314
5,639
1,768

347
2,653
55,379
76,105
5,470
620
62
5,639
1,768

________________________________

472,353

207,062

________________________________

Off-balance sheet items
Guarantees
Documentary credits
Undrawn commitments

4,549
356
63,595

1,618
158
28,291

________________________________

68,500

30,067

___________________________

459,827

148,043

___________________________

4,428
731
59,607

1,570
17,361

___________________________

64,766

18,931

________________________________

___________________________

Total adjusted assets and off-balance sheet items

237,129

166,974

Operational risk - notional weighted assets
Foreign exchange risk - notional weighted assets

9,862
1,129

4,633
1,102

___________

___________

Total adjusted assets

248,120

172,709

___________

___________
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36.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - continued
2011
EUR’000
Own funds
Tier 1
Original own funds
Ordinary shares
Reserves
Retained earnings
Unadjusted balance
Adjustment for:
Depositor Compensation Scheme Reserve

%

25,000

25,000

(11,166)

(10,588)

(1,017)

___________

(12,183)

(10,796)

___________

Unrealised fair value movements

___________

(728)

(620)

(1,074)

244

___________

Total original own funds
Tier 2
Additional own funds
Cumulative convertible non-redeemable
preference shares
Collective impairment allowances

Unrealised fair value movements

___________

11,015

13,828

___________

___________

7,500
1,173

727

___________

___________

8,673

727

1,074

(244)

___________

Total additional own funds

Total own funds

Capital adequacy ratio

%

(208)

___________

Intangible assets

2010
EUR’000

__________

9,747

483

___________

___________

20,762

14,311

___________

___________

8.37

8.29

___________

___________
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The additional regulatory disclosures have been prepared by the Bank in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of Banking Rule 07. The Bank publishes these disclosures on an annual basis as part of the Annual
Report and Financial Statements. The additional regulatory disclosures have been subject to internal review
procedures and the Bank is satisfied that the internal verification procedures ensure that these disclosures are fairly
presented.
Pillar 1 - Allocation of minimum regulatory capital
The Bank concluded its fourth year of operations, with most of the initiatives being directed at offering a complete
service proposition to customers and growth in the lending and deposit portfolios. The Bank remained also
strongly committed to ensure that the minimum set of risk assessment and control activities were aligned with the
Banif Group’s strategy.
The Bank complies with the Basel II requirements as far as Pillar 1 requirements are concerned allocating
regulatory capital to cover the following types of risk exposure:
i.
ii.
iii.

Credit risk using the Standardised Approach;
Operational risk using the Basic Indicator Approach; and
Market risk

Under the Standardised Approach, the exposure value of an asset is made up of the balance-sheet value, and the
resultant value of the off-balance sheet items after the application of the relevant credit conversion factors, as
defined in Annex II of Banking Rule 04/07.
The strategies pursued throughout 2011 led the Bank to enter into or maintain claims in the following exposure
classes:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.

claims or contingent claims on central governments or central banks;
claims or contingent claims on institutions – including banks;
claims or contingent claims on corporate – including entities not considered as a small or medium sized
entity;
claims or contingent retail claims – including exposures to individual persons or to a small or medium sized
entity;
claims or contingent claims secured on real estate property;
past due items;
claims in the form of covered bonds;
securitisation positions;
short-term claims on institutions and corporate;
other items.

Allocation of minimum regulatory capital
The table below summarises the on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets organised in the respective exposure
classes and the respective risk-weighted amounts together with the associated capital required calculated at 8% of
the risk-weighted amount as reported to MFSA in line with Banking Rule 04.
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Face
value
EUR’000

2011
Weighted
amount
EUR’000

Capital
required
EUR’000

9,354
150,639
15,402
50,351
193,834
3,642
3,674
21,629
23,828

3,086
25,814
15,399
30,232
110,421
3,031
1,837
17,243

247
2,065
1,232
2,419
8,834
243
147
1,379

On-balance sheet assets
Claims on government or central banks
Claims on institutions
Claims on corporates
Claims on retail
Claims secured by real estate
Past due items
Covered bonds
Securitisation
Other items

______________________________________________

472,353

207,063

16,566

______________________________________________

Off-balance sheet items
Claims on government or central banks
Corporates
Claims on retail
Claims secured by real estate
Past due items

1,164
18,251
49,085
-

914
10,562
18,591
-

73
845
1,486
-

_______________________________________________

68,500

30,067

2,404

______________________________________________

Sub-total
Operational risk - notional weighted assets
Foreign exchange risk - notional weighted assets

Total own funds
Capital adequacy ratio

60
4,514
133
1,422
4,453
154
1,108

_____________________________________________

459,827

148,043

11,844

_____________________________________________

57
2,500
14,948
47,260
1

7,705
11,225
1

616
898
-

____________________________________________

64,766

18,931

1,514

_____________________________________________

166,974

13,358

9,862

789

4,633

371

1,129

90

1,102
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248,120

EUR’000

Additional own funds
Cumulative convertible non-redeemable
preference shares
Collective impairment allowances
Unrealised fair value movements

750
56,422
1,666
17,772
55,660
1,925
13,848

18,970

19,849

_______________________________

Own funds
Original own funds
Ordinary shares
Retained earnings
Intangible assets
Unrealised fair value movements

5,206
279,138
5,166
27,314
121,714
3,731
17,558

Capital
required
EUR’000

237,129

_______________________________

Total weighted assets and capital required

2010
Face Weighted
value
amount
EUR’000 EUR’000

%

25,000
(12,183)
(728)
(1,074)

________________________________

172,709

13,817

________________________________

EUR’000

%

25,000
(10,796)
(620)
244

___________

___________

11,015

13,828

___________

___________

7,500
1,173
1,074

727
(244)

___________

___________

20,762

14,311

___________

___________

8.37

8.29

___________

___________
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Pillar 2 - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
In order to comply with Pillar 2 requirements emanating from MFSA Banking Rule 12/08 as well as to better
manage its overall risk-taking activities, the Bank has, during 2011, continued implementing structures and
mechanisms to allocate economic capital to cover other risks not adequately covered by Pillar 1.
The Bank remains strognly committed to further reinforce the soundness of the risk culture and economic capital
management with active participation from all areas of the Bank, namely the Board of Directors, Executive
Committee, the newly set up the Global Risk Management Department, theTreasury Department, the Finance &
Reporting Department, the Control & Compliance Department, the Internal Audit Office and other relevant
business areas/functions.
The ICAAP Review Process
The Bank conducted its second review exercise of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) in
June 2011 and submitted a report to MFSA accordingly.
In line with the recommendations issued by the Authority, the ICAAP process has been independently followed
and evaluated by the Internal Audit Office of the Bank. The Office has also reviewed the tools used to quantify the
risks as well as the final ICAAP report.
This review focused mainly on the degree of compliance with the objectives set for the ICAAP as per Banking
Rule 12, which namely include:i.

that credit institutions should have a process for assessing their overall capital adequacy in relation to
their risk profile and have in place a strategy for maintaining their capital levels; and

ii.

ensuring that the credit institutions have sufficient capital to support all material risk which their business
exposes them to.

Throughout the ICAAP process, and also during the course of this review, the concept of proportionality has been
maintained, in such a way that the structure and complexity of the ICAAP model presented, has taken into
consideration the size of the Bank, the level of risks and their complexity, as at end of March 2011.
The Bank maintained the same methodology as in the previous review exercise carried out in 2010. For the
material risk types identified in the ICAAP process, the risk quantification methodologies that were chosen took
into consideration their adequacy in light of the risk management techniques in place and the availability of
relevant information. The following risk types were considered material and were therefore quantified:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Interest rate risk
Operational risk
IT risk
Strategy risk
Compliance risk
Reputational risk
Concentration risk
Business risk
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Pillar 2 - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process - continued
The economic capital calculation was carried out taking into consideration a 99.93% confidence level, in line with
the confidence level used in the quantification exercise done by Banif Financial Group. The Group maintained the
same confidence level as in previous ICAAP exercises, amidst the challenging economic scenario characterised by
the deepening of the sovereign debt crisis and the series of downgrades of important players in the financial
services sector.
From the risk quantification exercise, three of the ten risk types identified above, namely Credit Risk, Liquidity
Risk and Concentration Risk, in aggregate represented 86% of the overall economic capital allocation of the
Bank.
Governance, Control and Reporting
Throughout the year, the Bank carried out further revisions and introduced new procedures to ensure the
adequacy of existing processes, the definition of control mechanisms and the development of new risk
management practices.
The governance model was again reviewed in order to further strengthen the overall risk awareness by the Board
of Directors and the Global Risk Management Department. This was complemented with an assessment of the
Bank’s risk profile vis-a-vis internal capital adequacy, control and consumption.
The Bank continues to implement its own ICAAP Framework, in order to fulfil the MFSA’s requirement on the
matter, to align the same ICAAP with that of the Group’s general approach and to ensure the adoption of the
industry best practices.
Measures were taken to ensure that the ICAAP review exercise is supported through formal documentation,
complete with the detailed description of all calculations performed, as well as assumptions and methodologies
used in the process. This documentation was subject to internal validation by the different areas involved in
ICAAP formulation and endorsed by the Chief Executive Officer.
The following areas participated actively in the Bank’s ICAAP review exercise:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Board of Directors;
Executive Committee;
Global Risk Management Department;
Treasury Department;
Finance & Reporting Department;
IT Department;
Control and Compliance Department and
Banif Financial Group’s Risk Function

In line with the review exercise, the Bank continued developing the internal capital assessment process mechanism
taking into consideration its specific risk profile and risk exposure.
The Bank’s Board of Directors retains that the ICAAP exercise carried out covered all material risks in order to
determine the capital requirement over a three-year time horizon. In January 2012, the Board approved a business
plan for the forthcoming three-year period from 2012 to 2014 in which a series of increases in share capital were
planned to provide the necessary capital buffers for the Bank to keep pursuing its strategic objectives as well as
meet additional capital requirements emanating from the implementation of CRD IV. The potential effect on
capital as a result of stress scenarios was also taken into consideration.
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INCOME STATEMENT
2011
EUR’000
Interest receivable and similar income
on loans and advances and balances with the
Central Bank of Malta
on debt and other fixed income instruments
Interest payable and similar expense

10,823
783
(5,996)

2010
EUR’000

6,760
(3,449)

_______________ ______________

Net interest income

5,610

3,311

_______________ ______________

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

1,597
(342)

1,022
(216)

_______________ ______________

Net fee and commission income

1,255

806

_______________ ______________

Net trading income

1,932

1,009

_______________ ______________

Total operating income

8,797

5,126

_______________ ______________

Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

(4,349)
(3,690)
(467)
(224)

(3,712)
(4,182)
(485)
(128)

_______________ ______________

Total operating expenses

(8,730)

(8,507)

_______________ ______________

Net operating profit/ (loss) before
impairment and provisions
Net impairment losses

67

(820)

(3,381)

(670)

_______________ ______________

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

(753)

(4,051)

175

1,376

_______________ ______________

Loss for the year

(578)

(2,675)

______________ ______________

EUR
Loss per share

(2.97c)

EUR

2009
EUR’000

2,206
(1,102)

2008
EUR’000

2007
EUR’000

866
(314)

219
-

___________________ _____________

____________

1,104

552

___________________ _____________

396
(61)

219
____________

84
(24)

-

___________________ _____________

____________

335

60

___________________ _____________

416

13

___________________ _____________

1,855

625

___________________ _____________

(2,834)
(3,321)
(463)
(94)

____________

____________

219
____________

(1,750)
(3,128)
(341)
(74)

(422)
(1,415)
(140)
(3)

___________________ _____________

____________

(5,293)

(1,980)

___________________ _____________

(6,712)

____________

(4,857)

(4,668)

(367)

(149)

-

___________________ _____________

____________

(5,224)

(4,817)

1,694

1,661

___________________ _____________

(3,530)

(3,156)

(1,761)

(1,761)
534
____________

(1,227)

______________

______________

____________

EUR

EUR

EUR

(10.7c)

(14.1c)

(13.1c)

(8.1c)

______________ ______________

______________

______________

____________

90

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
FIVE YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES - continued
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2011
EUR’000

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

2008
EUR’000

2007
EUR’000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
7,771
Cheques in course of collection
4,323
Financial assets held-for-trading
41,403
Financial investments
23,769
Loans and advance to banks
127,780
Loans and advances to customers
248,915
Property and equipment
6,441
Intangible assets
728
108
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
3,533
Deferred tax asset
5,461
122
Other assets

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

5,051
2,255
6,766
84,887
59,487
5,781
442
895
728
3,905
169

614
47
15,143
11,445
3,872
445
401
2,205
134

6,910
578
33
355
541
-

_______________ ______________

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

470,354

458,641

170,366

34,306

8,417

______________

______________

____________

3,835
146,066
878
1,604
896

21,616
819
1,254

2
398
244

181,518
261,873
34
2,787
2,812

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

449,024

444,229

_______________ ______________

EQUITY
Issued capital
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserve

32,500
(11,166)
(4)

25,000
(10,588)
-

_______________ ______________

TOTAL EQUITY

21,330

14,412

_______________ ______________

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

____________

______ ________ ______________

_______________ ______________

TOTAL LIABILITIES

___________________ _____________

470,354

___________________ _____________

153,279

23,689

___________________ _____________

25,000
(7,913)
-

____________

644
____________

15,000
(4,383)
-

9,000
(1,227)
-

___________________ _____________

____________

17,087

10,617

___________________ _____________

7,773
____________

458,641

170,366

34,306

8,417

______________ ______________

______________

______________

____________

2,902

1,172

Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities

4,905

5,159

_______________ ______________

Commitments

67,060

63,254

_______________ ______________

___________________ _____________

37,250

13,376

___________________ _____________

____________

5,334
____________
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2011
EUR’000
Operating activities
Interest received
Fees and commission received
Interest paid
Fees and commission paid
Proceeds from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers

2010
EUR’000

10,915
1,447
(5,399)
(342)
241
(7,817)

5,836
1,022
(2,351)
(216)
1,015
(7,868)

_______________ ______________

Operating loss before changes in
operating assets/liabilities

2009
EUR’000

2,033
396
(828)
(61)
275
(6,557)

2008
EUR’000

652
84
(135)
(24)
13
(4,156)

___________________ _____________

2007
EUR’000

219
(1,374)
____________

(955)

(2,562)

(4,742)

(3,566)

Increase/(decrease) in operating assets
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets held-for-trading
Other receivables

1,809
282
(93,964)
(36,224)
(4,611)

(1,496)
15,181
(96,947)
2,499
315

(3,213)
(6,063)
(48,409)
(6,640)
(2,244)

(239)
(9,401)
(11,594)
(181)

-

Decrease/ (increase) in operating liabilities
Amounts owed to Banks
Amounts owed to customers
Other payables

39,267
(171,806)
447

287,613
700

124,450
578

21,614
371

2
-

_______________ ______________

Operating (loss)/ profit after changes in
operating assets/liabilities
Income tax paid

(265,755)
(3)

205,303
(2)

_______________ ______________

Net cash flows (used in)/ from
operating activities

(265,758)

205,301

_______________ ______________

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment and
intangible assets
(1,711)
Purchase of available-for-sale instruments
(55,127)
31,354
Proceeds from available-for-sale instruments
Interest received on available-for-sale instruments
702

(569)
-

_______________ ______________

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(24,782)
_____________

(569)

_______________

___________________ _____________

53,717
(7)

(2,996)

(1,155)

____________

(1,153)

(3)

(7)

___________________ _____________

____________

53,710

(2,999)

___________________ _____________

(2,639)
-

(3,794)
-

___________________ _____________

(2,639)
_ _____________

(3,794)
______________

(1,160)
____________

(930)
____________

(930)
____________
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - continued
2011
2010
EUR’000 EUR’000

Financing activities
Proceeds from increase in paid up
value of issued share capital
Proceeds from issue of cumulative convertible
preference shares

-

-

7,500

-

_______________ ______________

7,500

Net cash flows from financing activities

-

_______________ ______________

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents
Net (decrease) /increase in cash
and cash equivalents

(283,040)

8,294
(291,334)

204,732

1,045
203,687

_______________ ______________

(Decrease)/ increase in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

(283,040)

204,732

271,920

67,188

_______________ ______________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

(11,120)

2009
EUR’000

2008
EUR’000

2007
EUR’000

10,000

6,000

9,000

-

-

___________________ _____________

10,000

6,000

___________________ _____________

61,071

(7)
61,078

(793)

-

____________

9,000
____________

6,910

-

(793)

6,910

___________________ _____________

____________

61,071

6,117

(793)

6,910

___________________ _____________

6,910

____________

271,920

67,188

6,117

6,910

______________ ______________

______________

______________

____________
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ACCOUNTING RATIOS
2011
%

2010
%

2009
%

2008
%

2007
%

Net interest income and other operating income to
total assets

1.87

1.12

1.09

1.82

2.62

Operating expenses to total assets

1.86

1.85

3.94

15.43

23.52

Cost to income ratio

99.24

165.96

361.83

846.88

904.11

Loss before tax to total assets

(0.16)

(0.88)

(3.07)

(14.04)

(20.92)

Loss before tax to equity

(3.53)

(28.11)

(30.57)

(45.37)

(22.66)

Loss after tax to equity

(2.71)

(18.56)

(20.66)

(29.73)

(15.79)

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

32.5

25

25

25

15

66

58

68

42

52

1.66

10.7

14.1

13.1

8.1

Shares in issue (millions)
Net assets per share (Euro cents)
Loss per share (Euro cents)
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SHAREHOLDING INFORMATION
During 2011, Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c. amended its authorised share capital from 50,000,000 ordinary shares of a
nominal value of EUR1 each to 42,500,000 ordinary shares of a nominal value of EUR1 each and 7,500,000 4%
cumulative convertible preference shares of a nominal value of EUR1 each.
The issued share capital stood at EUR32,500,000 as at 31 December 2011, made up of 25,000,000 fully paid up
ordinary shares of EUR1 each and EUR7,500,000 fully paid up 4% Cumulative Convertible Preference shares at a
nominal value of EUR 1 each.
The 4% Cumulative Convertible Preference shares of EUR7,500,000 were fully subscribed by the majority
shareholder, Banif SGPS SA.
The ordinary shares are held as follows:
No. of shares
Banif SGPS, SA (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C 42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)
Banif Comercial SGPS SA (505 843 200)

17,999,999
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1
__________________

25,000,000
__________________

The percentage holdings stand as follows:
%
Banif SGPS, SA (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)
Banif Comercial SGPS SA (505 843 200)

71.99
7
7
7
7
0.01
________________

100
________________

Each of the shareholders owning seven per centum (7%) of the ordinary issued share capital, are entitled to
appoint one Director in line with the Bank’s Articles of Association. Each ordinary share entitles the shareholder
to one voting right. No voting rights are attached to the 4% Cumulative Convertible Preference shares.
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